

Blocking the Sun

Utilities and Fossil Fuel Interests That Are Undermining American Solar Power 2017 Edition



FRONTIER GROUP

Blocking the Sun

Utilities and Fossil Fuel Interests That Are Undermining American Solar Power 2017 Edition



FRONTIER GROUP

Written by:

Hye-Jin Kim and Rachel J. Cross

Frontier Group

Bret Fanshaw

Environment America Research & Policy Center

November 2017

Acknowledgments

Environment Texas Research & Policy Center thanks Dave Anderson of the Energy and Policy Institute, Greer Ryan of the Center for Biological Diversity and Nathan Phelps of Vote Solar for their review of drafts of this document, as well as their insights and suggestions. Thanks also to Tony Dutzik and Katherine Eshel of Frontier Group for editorial support.

This report is the third in the *Blocking the Sun* series; the first, released October 2015 was written by Gideon Weissman of Frontier Group and Bret Fanshaw of Environment America Research & Policy Center, and the second, released December 2016, was written by Rachel J. Cross and Gideon Weissman of Frontier Group and Bret Fanshaw of Environment America Research & Policy Center.

Environment Texas Research & Policy Center thanks the Arntz Family Foundation, the Cynthia and George Mitchell Foundation, the Barbara Bosson Charitable Fund, the Footprint Foundation, the Fund for New Jersey, the Scherman Foundation, the McCune Charitable Foundation, the John Merck Fund and Gertrude and William C. Wardlaw for making this report possible. The authors bear responsibility for any factual errors. The recommendations are those of Environment Texas Research & Policy Center. The views expressed in this report are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of our funders or those who provided review.

© 2017 Environment Texas Research & Policy Center

Environment Texas Research & Policy Center is a 501(c)(3) organization. We are dedicated to protecting our air, water and open spaces. We investigate problems, craft solutions, educate the public and decision-makers, and help the public make their voices heard in local, state and national debates over the quality of our environment and our lives. For more information about Environment Texas Research & Policy Center or for additional copies of this report, please visit www.environmenttexascenter.org.

Frontier Group provides information and ideas to help citizens build a cleaner, healthier and more democratic America. Our experts and writers deliver timely research and analysis that is accessible to the public, applying insights gleaned from a variety of disciplines to arrive at new ideas for solving pressing problems. For more information about Frontier Group, please visit www.frontiergroup.org.

Layout: Alec Meltzer/meltzerdesign.net

Cover photo: Becca Humann

Table of Contents

Executive Summary1
Introduction
Strong Public Policies Have Fueled the Rise of Solar Energy5
Industry-Friendly Appointments Change the Playing Field for Federal Solar Policy
Many Utilities and the Fossil Fuel Industry Are Fighting to Stop the Growth of Solar Energy
Blocking the Sun: Utilities and Fossil Fuel Groups Undermining Solar Energy
Laying the Groundwork: The National Support Network for Anti-Solar Campaigns11
Setting the Policy: Edison Electric Institute11
Providing the Funding and Running Ground Campaigns: The Koch Brothers12
Selling Legislative Influence: American Legislative Exchange Council
Deceptive Front Group: Consumer Energy Alliance14
Lobbying in the States: Indiana Energy Association15
Battling Solar in the States: Electric Utilities
Duke Energy, Florida Power and Light Company, Gulf Power Company and Tampa Electric Company: Waging a Deceptive Fight against Solar Energy in the Sunshine State
Arizona Public Service and Salt River Project: Battling Rooftop Solar in One of America's Best Solar States
Central Maine Power: Defeating Pro-Solar Legislation
American Electric Power: Influence in Ohio
Rocky Mountain Power: Net Metering in Utah
Commonwealth Edison: Statewide Legislation:
El Paso Electric: Minimum Monthly Fees
Nevada Energy: Rooftop Solar Prevails24
Conclusion
Notes

Executive Summary

Solar power is clean, affordable and popular with the American people. The amount of solar energy currently installed in the U.S. can power one in 14 American homes; that amount is expected to triple within the next five years.

The growth of American solar energy in the past decade has been the result of smart solar-friendly state policies like net metering and tax incentives for solar infrastructure, putting clean energy within financial reach of millions more Americans. The recent appointment of officials favored by electric utilities and fossil fuel interests to key positions within the Department of Energy and other federal agencies makes the preservation of strong solar policies in the states more important than ever.

In 2017, utilities continue to chip away at key state policies that put rooftop solar on the map in the United States, making it harder for Americans to invest in clean energy.

This report documents 20 fossil fuel-backed groups and electric utilities running some of the nation's most aggressive campaigns to slow the growth of solar energy in 12 states, including eight attempts to reduce net metering benefits and seven attempts to create demand charges for customers with solar power. Citizens and policy-makers must be aware of the tools that utilities are using to undermine solar energy across America and redouble their commitment to strong policies that move the nation toward a clean energy future.

A national network of utility interest groups and fossil fuel-backed think tanks has provided the funding, model legislation and political cover to discourage the growth of rooftop solar power.

- The **Edison Electric Institute**, the trade group that represents U.S. investor-owned electric utilities, launched the current wave of attacks on solar in 2012. Since then, EEI has worked with the American Legislative Exchange Council to create model legislation to repeal state renewable electricity standards and attack net metering.
- The American Legislative Exchange Council also provides utility and fossil fuel interests with access to state legislators, and its anti-net metering policy resolution has inspired legislation in states like Washington and Utah.
- The Koch brothers have provided funding to the national fight against solar by funneling tens of millions of dollars through a network of opaque nonprofits. The Koch-funded campaign organization Americans for Prosperity (AFP) has carried out anti-solar organizing efforts.
- The Consumer Energy Alliance (CEA) is a Houston-based front group for the utility and fossil fuel industry, representing companies like Florida Power and Light, ExxonMobil, Chevron and Shell Oil. CEA has spent resources and shipped representatives across the country to help utilities fight their battles in states like Florida, Indiana, Maine and Utah.
- The state industry group **Indiana Energy Association** successfully lobbied on behalf of the state's biggest electric utilities to end net metering, replacing it instead with a new solar policy that limits consumer compensation for generating rooftop power.

At the state level, electric utilities have used the support provided by national anti-solar interests, as well as their own ample resources, to attack key solar energy policies.

- In Florida, Florida Power and Light, Gulf Power Electric, Tampa Electric Company and Duke Energy, the largest utility in the U.S., spent millions of dollars funding the front group, Consumers for Smart Solar, which was the primary backer of a failed 2016 ballot initiative that would have restricted rooftop solar growth. In 2017, Florida Power and Light drafted language for a new bill to restrict solar growth in Florida.
- Two major Arizona utilities Arizona Public Service and Salt River Project – have successfully pushed for anti-rooftop solar policies. Arizona Public Service, the biggest utility in Arizona, has also been accused of improperly cultivating influence with the state commission that regulates utilities and funneling dark money into recent commissioner elections.
- In Utah, Rocky Mountain Power tried once again to eliminate net metering and charge additional fees to its 20,000 customers that generate rooftop power. Public outcry from ratepayers and the solar industry forced Rocky Mountain Power to settle, grandfathering all current solar customers into net metering.
- In Texas, El Paso Electric renewed its past attempt to create a separate, and more expensive, rate class for solar customers. In 2015, the utility spent \$3.1 million on filing and negotiating fees, an amount ultimately charged to ratepayers, before dropping the proposal, only to pick it up again this year.
- In 2015, Nevada Energy successfully campaigned the Nevada utilities commission to eliminate net metering, a move that effectively halted the growth of rooftop solar in its service territory for two years. After widespread public protest, state legislators effectively reinstated net metering in 2017.

As of mid-2017, there were at least 90 ongoing policy actions in U.S. states with the potential to affect the growth of rooftop generation, such as limits on net metering or new utility fees that make solar power less affordable.

State decision-makers should resist utility and fossil fuel industry influence, and reject policies such as

- Elimination of, restrictions on, or unfair caps on net metering;
- Discriminatory surcharges or tariffs for solar customers;
- Utility rate designs that discourage solar adoption;
- Unnecessary regulatory burdens on solar energy; and
- Rollbacks of renewable electricity standards.

In addition, state leaders should embrace ambitious goals for solar energy and adopt policies that will help meet them, including:

- Considering the benefits of distributed solar energy to the grid, to ratepayers and to society in any rate making or policy decisions about solar energy;
- Implementing strong net metering and interconnection standards, which enable many customers to meet their own electricity needs with solar power;
- Encouraging community shared solar projects and virtual net metering, which can expand solar access to more customers;
- Enacting or expanding solar or distributed renewable carve-outs and renewable electricity standards;
- Enabling financing mechanisms to allow for greater solar access to businesses and residents;

- Allowing companies other than utilities to sell or lease solar to residents and businesses; and
- Making smart investments to move toward a more intelligent electric grid that will enable distributed sources of energy such as solar power to play a larger role.

Policymakers should also uphold our country's commitment to reduce carbon pollution. Solar power will play a major role in any strategy to reduce global warming pollution and the carbon footprint of the energy we generate and consume.

Introduction

In the past decade, solar energy has boomed across the United States. As prices for solar panels fell by 73 percent from 2006 to 2016, the number of U.S. residential rooftop solar installations saw consistent growth, hitting the 1 million mark in 2016.¹ Today, there is enough solar energy in the United States to power one in 14 American homes.²

In 2017, solar generation averted approximately 55 million metric tons of carbon dioxide pollution, equivalent to taking nearly 12 million passenger vehicles off the road.³ By the end of 2016, there were more than 260,000 solar industry workers in the U.S., a 25 percent increase from 2015.⁴ It's not a surprise, then, that the vast majority of Americans support solar energy: a 2016 Pew Research Center survey showed that 89 percent of Americans favor increasing the use of solar power.⁵

But many electric utilities and the fossil fuel industry disagree. These special interests perceive solar power – especially solar power generated locally by ordinary residents and businesses, as opposed to in centralized, utility-owned power plants – not as an opportunity to clean our air, take action on climate change and build a more distributed and resilient energy system, but as a threat to established ways of doing business. As a result, many of these companies – among the most powerful in the world – have thrown their power and resources behind campaigns to attack solar energy and the key public policies that make it accessible and affordable to Americans. In the second quarter of 2017, U.S. states considered at least 90 policy actions with the potential to impact the economic viability of distributed solar energy, including restrictions on community solar installations, reductions in the compensation that utilities provide consumers for the excess solar power they supply to the grid (net metering), and the creation of new demand charges for residential customers that undermine the economics of solar energy.⁶

These fights have largely occurred at the state level, but recent appointments of electric utility and fossil fuel industry favorites to federal positions raise questions about the future of rooftop solar. Strong prosolar state policies have never been more important to the future of solar energy, and understanding how utility interests have fought solar growth at the state level could illustrate how such attacks may happen at the federal level.

Many of these battles are being waged in the shadows – in regulatory agencies largely removed from public view, where public support for solar energy and the contribution of solar power to a cleaner environment can have little impact on decision-making.

This report – the third in a series – attempts to pull back the veil on the latest efforts by major utilities, fossil fuel companies, front groups and special interest think tanks to fight solar power in America. By shining a light on the companies and entities attacking solar energy – and the tactics they use – citizens and decision-makers will be better equipped to respond to the nationwide assault on solar energy.

Strong Public Policies Have Fueled the Rise of Solar Energy

he rise of American solar energy, which has grown more than 43-fold in capacity since 2007, is no accident.⁷ In addition to dramatic price drops – residential solar installations fell in price by 43 percent from 2010 to 2015 – forward-looking policies have cut red tape and made solar power more affordable for consumers.⁸

A number of policies have been particularly important to the growth of solar energy:

- Net metering policies guarantee owners of solar power systems a fair return for the excess electricity they supply to the grid by crediting them with the value of such electricity, typically at the retail rate. Net metering essentially allows the customer's power meter to "spin backwards" at times when solar power production exceeds on-site needs.
- Renewable electricity standards (RES, also known as renewable portfolio standards) set minimum renewable energy requirements for utilities. RESs with a specific minimum requirement for solar or distributed renewable energy have played a major role in fostering a stable solar energy market.
- Third-party ownership policies allow companies other than utilities to use financing tools like power purchase agreements or solar leasing that can reduce consumers' upfront costs for installing rooftop solar. Power purchase agreements, for example, let a company install a solar energy system on a consumer's rooftop at no upfront

cost, and then sell power generated by the panels back to the customer at a fixed cost.

- The Property Assessed Clean Energy program (PACE) allows local and state governments to lend money to homeowners and businesses for energy improvements, including a financing option available to property owners who want to install rooftop solar. A PACE loan ties the debt to the property itself, rather than the owner, so it transfers with real estate contracts. For property owners concerned about having to move before recouping their investment in home solar power, the PACE program has proven to be key.
- Federal and state tax credits have made solar a more affordable option for consumers and businesses. In 2015, of the 10 U.S. states with the most solar capacity per capita, six offered tax credits for solar installations, and four offered rebates or grants. In December 2015, federal lawmakers renewed the 30 percent solar Investment Tax Credit (ITC) through the end of 2019, resulting in a predicted additional \$38 billion in solar energy investment through 2021.⁹

The presence of strong solar policies has been consistently linked with the emergence of strong solar energy markets. In 2014, the U.S. Department of Energy's National Renewable Energy Laboratory found that strong solar policies were important indicators of a state's solar capacity.¹⁰ Of the 10 states with the most solar capacity per person in 2016, nine had strong net metering policies; nine had strong interconnection policies; nine had policies that allow creative financing options like power purchase agreements; and all had renewable electricity standards.¹¹

Electric utilities seeking to undermine solar growth often target these policies. In addition to replacing net metering with lower reimbursement rates for excess solar energy, other common tactics seek to complicate rate design and make solar less of a good investment.

Demand charges change the economic calculus of going solar, as they are based not on electricity use, but on peak electricity demand for a short (typically 15 to 60 minute) period over the course of a month. As a result, the savings resulting from low grid electricity use over the course of a month can be offset by short periods of heavy electricity use, for example at night or on a cloudy day.¹²

Traditionally, **time-of-use rates** schedule the most expensive time to use electricity (on-peak hours) during the day.¹³ By shifting the schedule of on-peak and off-peak hours to later in the evening, when solar panels are inactive, utilities can minimize net metering payments to solar customers and charge them more for night-time electricity use.

Solar-specific fees are extra monthly charges levied on customers with rooftop solar systems. Utilities justify these fees as critical to ensure grid reliability, subsidize net metering programs, and maintain infrastructure.¹⁴ Creating a **solar rate class** is a similar mechanism to discriminate against solar customers by charging them more for the same electricity use. Instead of a predetermined monthly charge, solar customers are billed more per kilowatt-hour of electricity than regular customers.

Industry-Friendly Appointments Change the Playing Field for Federal Solar Policy

Electric utilities and other special interests looking to slow the growth of rooftop solar have primarily focused on influencing state-level policy by affecting the outcomes of regulatory proceedings to favor utilities over rooftop solar. Others have sought state-level changes using campaign contributions to statehouse politicians and involvement in local ballot initiatives. However, under the Trump administration, political appointments of longtime utility and fossil fuel industry allies to federal government roles related to the development of renewable energy policy may present an opportunity for special interests to slow the progress of rooftop solar at the federal level.

The presence of anti-solar interests started as early as President Trump's transition team. Thomas Pyle, president of the Koch-funded Institute for Energy Research and former Koch lobbyist in D.C., led the Department of Energy transition.¹⁵ Doug Domenech, a director at the Texas Public Policy Foundation – which has received Koch funding and worked against state renewable portfolio standards – headed up the Department of the Interior transition.¹⁶ And Myron Ebell, director of the Center for Energy and Environment at the Competitive Enterprise Institute, another Koch-funded group, which has openly lobbied Congress to end a federal program that helps fund net metering programs for those with rooftop solar panels, led the Environmental Protection Agency transition.¹⁷ Administrative appointments have continued the trend. In May, President Trump appointed the former vice president for policy at the Institute for Energy Research, Daniel Simmons, to oversee the Department of Energy's Office of Energy Efficiency and Renewable Energy. ¹⁸ The agency's primary purpose is to encourage the development of renewable energy technology, and was targeted by the Institute for Energy Research's advocacy arm in 2015, which called on Congress to dismantle the agency altogether.¹⁹

In August, Mark Menezes, the current Vice President of Berkshire Hathaway Energy, which owns utilities PacifiCorp and NV Energy, was nominated to become the Under Secretary of Energy.²⁰ Menezes has a long history of lobbying for electric utilities and trade groups, including Duke Energy and the Edison Electric Institute.²¹

That same month, Neil Chatterjee was confirmed for a seat on the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission, an independent agency that provides regulatory guidance on many facets of energy policy, including electricity transmission rules that can affect state net metering policies.²² Chatterjee once served as a federal lobbyist for the National Rural Electric Cooperative Association, a trade group that later supported the Florida anti-solar initiative Amendment 1 and has advocated for other anti-solar policies such as monthly fixed fees for rooftop solar customers and applying lower, wholesale rates for net metering instead of retail rates.²³

In October, President Trump nominated Kathleen Hartnett-White to lead the White House Council on Environmental Quality.²⁴ Hartnett-White, like Trump's transition lead for the Department of the Interior, Doug Domenech, is also an alumna of the Texas Public Policy Foundation and co-authored the think tank's book *Fueling Freedom: Exposing the Mad War on Energy*, which argues against shifts from oil and gas to renewable energy sources.²⁵

Secretary of Energy Rick Perry appointed Brian Mc-Cormack, a former Edison Electric Institute executive who served as the vice president of political and external affairs for the utility group, to serve as his chief of staff.²⁶ McCormack oversaw the writing of a Department of Energy report released in August 2017 on the effects of renewable energy on the electric grid; one of the report's authors, Travis Fisher, once served as an economist for the Institute for Energy Research, and his 2015 report for the Institute named clean energy policies the greatest threat to the electric grid above such specters as cyberattacks and terrorism.²⁷

The new positioning of electric utilities to influence policy on a federal level warrants vigilance and strong policies in the states to ensure rooftop solar continues to have a bright future.

Many Utilities and the Fossil Fuel Industry Are Fighting to Stop the Growth of Solar Energy

Solar energy is a boon to the environment and is popular with the American people. But to many utilities, along with the fossil fuel industry, the rapid growth of solar energy is something to fear, not celebrate.

To companies that sell coal, oil and natural gas, solar energy represents an obvious long-term threat to the viability of their businesses. To electric utilities that burn these fossil fuels, solar energy installed by individuals and businesses represents a different type of threat, one with much more immediate consequences. Some electric utilities warn that distributed generation is shifting costs from solar customers to average ratepayers; as more individuals and businesses "go solar" and benefit from programs like net metering, they argue, the cost of providing access to the grid will be shared by fewer ratepayers. As the price of energy storage technology declines, more customers will have the ability and the incentive to abandon the grid altogether, triggering a "utility death spiral."

Research from the Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory suggests that concerns about the so-called death spiral are probably overblown.²⁸ And some utilities have responded to the challenge posed by solar energy by working constructively with regulators and other decision-makers to develop new business models that maintain consumers' access to

an affordable, reliable electric grid while at the same time supporting further solar growth.

Other utilities have invested resources in utility-owned solar power plants, while simultaneously fighting to limit consumers' ability to generate their own solar power. Still others have attempted to slow the growth of solar energy by fighting to eliminate policies that support the transition to a clean energy economy. Those fights – against distributed, local solar power and generally against all forms of clean energy – are happening with increasing frequency across the United States. In the second quarter of 2017, U.S. states considered at least 90 policy actions with the potential to impact the economic benefits of distributed solar energy, such as reducing net metering compensation and creating demand charges for residential electric customers.²⁹

The campaigns to slow the rise of solar energy have often been conducted as if money were little object. The oil and gas industry and electric utilities are the fourth and fifth biggest spenders on federal lobbying in the United States, respectively.³⁰ Yet many of these battles have been waged with hidden campaign spending, or in regulatory agencies that tend to receive limited public scrutiny.

Who are the interests behind these attacks on solar energy? And how have they waged their campaigns? The following section provides a list of key players and a glimpse at the fossil fuel industry's anti-solar playbook.

Solar Power Is Popular across the Political Spectrum

Solar energy's immense popularity isn't limited to any one segment of the population. According to a 2016 Pew Research Center poll, 89 percent of Americans – including 83 percent of conservative Republicans – favor expanding solar power in the U.S.³¹

Among the most passionate champions of solar energy in some states are conservatives affiliated with the Tea Party movement, who see rooftop solar energy as a means to greater autonomy for individuals. According to Debbie Dooley, the cofounder of the Atlanta Tea Party, as quoted in the *New Yorker*: "I thought that the regulated monopoly in Georgia had far too much power... The average person cannot build a power plant, but they can install solar panels on their rooftop, and they should be able to sell that energy to friends and neighbors if they wish."³²

In states like Florida, members of the Tea Party have butted heads with industry-backed groups such as Americans for Prosperity. One conservative citizens' group accused Americans for Prosperity of launching a "campaign of deception" against net metering in Florida.³³

The rhetoric of the 2016 presidential campaign, which framed the clean energy debate along state lines, does not represent public opinion. A 2017 poll found that 87 percent of Ohio residents supported more clean energy. Even among respondents in the state's coal-mining region, only 19 percent believed that elected officials should oppose renewable energy policies, such as the state's renewable portfolio standard, which was saved from repeal in December 2016 by a veto from Republican Governor John Kasich.³⁴

Despite the attempts of industry public relations campaigns to polarize the solar energy debate on traditional conservative-liberal lines, solar power is only increasing in popularity with the American public.³⁵

Blocking the Sun: Utilities and Fossil Fuel Groups Undermining Solar Energy

olar power is clean, affordable and popular with the American people. Yet, powerful interests with deep pockets have been determined to under-

mine distributed solar. The following electric utilities and fossil fuel-backed groups are running some of the country's most aggressive campaigns against solar power.

Laying the Groundwork: The National Support Network for Anti-Solar Campaigns

A national network of utility interest groups and fossil fuel industry-funded think tanks launched the fight against rooftop solar by providing funding, model legislation and political cover for anti-solar campaigns across the country.



Setting the Policy: Edison Electric Institute

Edison Electric Institute (EEI) is the trade group that represents U.S. investor-owned electric companies.

EEI put in motion what has become the utility industry's national campaign to slow the growth of rooftop solar, and played a prominent role funding and actively participating in both national and state-level campaigns against solar energy.

In 2012, EEI effectively kicked off the utility war on rooftop solar when it brought together top utility executives to describe the threat posed to the utility business model by rooftop solar. At the meeting, EEI put forth an "action plan" of outreach to convince state legislators, governors, regulators, consumer advocates and customers, that net metering policies must change.³⁶ One year later, EEI published a report titled "Disruptive Challenges" that warned of net metering's "significant potential adverse impact to utility investors."³⁷

After creating the utility case against solar power, EEI helped put in motion the utility industry's state-level

legislative attacks. EEI, and in particular then-vice president for political and external affairs Brian Mc-Cormack, worked with the American Legislative Exchange Council (ALEC) to craft and distribute sample bill language to state legislatures that attacked net metering and created solar surcharges.³⁸ In 2016, EEI released a communications handbook entitled "The Future of Energy," largely focused on "resetting the terms of the discussion" in an effort to improve electric utilities' PR in public discussion of rooftop solar.³⁹ In addition to distributing the handbook to member utilities, EEI also presented the information to members of the National Association of Regulatory Utility Commissioners, a group of public utility and service commissioners from around the U.S..⁴⁰ EEI also funds a number of groups who publicly oppose net metering, including Hispanics in Energy (HIE), whose president, Monica Martinez, has published multiple op-eds in local papers opposing solar-friendly policies, including in Illinois in 2016 and Utah in 2017.41 EEI has been responsible for a significant chunk of the funding for Hispanics in Energy. At its founding in 2012, the group's total revenue was \$79,850; in 2013, they received \$10,000 from EEI.⁴² HIE's website also lists a number of other big fossil fuel and utility companies as its partners, such as ExxonMobil, the American Petroleum Institute and Pacific Gas & Electric.43

EEI also engages directly with lawmakers to make the case against rooftop solar. Leading up to a 2016 Federal Trade Commission (FTC) panel on solar energy and consumer protections, New York Congresswoman Yvette Clarke submitted a letter to the FTC critiquing rooftop solar as a financial risk for consumers. Metadata contained in the digital version of the letter revealed EEI's director of governmental relations, Eric Grey, created the document, and that it was last edited by a lobbyist for Gray Global Advisors, a group which represents EEI.⁴⁴

In May 2017, the Energy and Policy Institute reported that at least two dozen companies recover a significant portion of their EEI dues from customers, not investors.⁴⁵ In 2014, California's Public Utilities Com-

mission offloaded some of the burden from ratepayers by ruling that Pacific Gas & Electric shareholders must pay for 43 percent of the utility's EEI dues.⁴⁶ Meanwhile, in Florida, customers of Florida Power & Light appear on tap to pay nearly \$2.5 million to EEI in 2018.⁴⁷

Now, EEI may face an even broader reach with former EEI executive Brian McCormack's appointment as Secretary of Energy Rick Perry's chief of staff.⁴⁸



Providing the Funding and Running Ground Campaigns: **The Koch Brothers**

Using the vast wealth accumulated from their fossil fuel businesses, the Koch brothers – Charles and David Koch – are notorious for heavy spending to influence American politics. In the two years leading up to the 2016 election, for example, the Koch brothers were projected to have spent \$250 million on campaign contributions.⁴⁹

In recent years, the Koch brothers have turned their attention to attacks on solar power, applying their funding and political resources through a variety of avenues. The Koch brothers typically fund their anti-solar activity through a difficult-to-trace web of nonprofit organizations.

The Koch brothers are able to apply political pressure through Americans for Prosperity (AFP) and its state-based network of citizen members. Americans for Prosperity runs 34 state chapters, 29 of which have registered lobbyists.⁵⁰ Through these and other means, the Koch brothers have taken part in fights against solar power all over the country, including Arizona, New Hampshire, Florida, Ohio, South Carolina and Washington state.⁵¹

In June 2017, the head of Arizona's chapter of Americans for Prosperity testified in favor of a proposal by Arizona utility Tucson Electric Power Co. (TEP) to cut reimbursement rates and charge new fees to solar customers.⁵² Also in 2017, the New Hampshire branch of Americans for Prosperity came out in support of two bills to kill clean energy policies.⁵³

The Koch brothers have been particularly active in Florida, the Sunshine State, where they have fought solar energy side-by-side with state utilities. In 2016, the Koch-funded group 60 Plus donated at least \$1 million to the utility-backed Amendment 1 ballot initiative, which would have prohibited net metering and created new barriers to rooftop solar ownership.⁵⁴ Amendment 1 was defeated by voters in November 2016.⁵⁵

The Koch brothers also advance their agenda by funding and supporting university research. The brothers support at least 350 programs at more than 250 schools and universities.⁵⁶ At Utah State University (USU), Professor Randy Simmons is a senior fellow at the Koch-funded Property and Environment Research Center, and runs an education program called "Koch Scholars," which depends on a Koch foundation grant.⁵⁷ Between 2008 and 2013, Simmons served as the Charles G. Koch Professor of Political Economy at USU, and has been involved with a variety of anti-renewable research projects.⁵⁸ One such study blamed renewable energy for effects of the economic downturn of the Great Recession; another attacked Ohio's renewable electricity standard, which included provisions that would expand solar energy.59

George Mason University has also been a long-time recipient of Koch foundation funding, totaling over \$50 million in all. The law school's Center for the Study of the Administrative State in particular has received direct funding from the foundation, and in July 2017, the Center's founder, Neomi Rao, was confirmed as the head of the federal Office of Information and Regulatory Affairs.⁶⁰ The agency, housed within the Office of Management and Budget, reviews federal rulemaking across all departments – including the Department of Energy and its subagencies working on renewable energy policy – in part to ensure new agency rules reflect the policy priorities of the sitting President.⁶¹

Koch-funded groups also dominated the Trump transition team, with the transition heads of the Department of Energy, Department of the Interior and the EPA all having been current or former leadership of industry groups working against pro-rooftop solar policies with Koch support.⁶² Thomas Pyle, who led the Department of Energy transition, was a former federal lobbyist for Koch Industries.⁶³



Selling Legislative Influence: American Legislative Exchange Council

The American Legislative Exchange Council, or ALEC, gives the fossil fuel and utility industries direct access to lawmakers. By distributing model legislation to its more than 2,000 state legislator members, who then introduce the bills, ALEC has enabled its industry funders to push the introduction of anti-solar legislation in statehouses across the country.⁶⁴ ALEC's work to attack solar is wide-reaching, and includes efforts to kill net metering and repeal renewable electricity standards.

ALEC's funding sources have included the Koch brothers, ExxonMobil and Chevron.⁶⁵ While it describes itself as a helpful policy aid for state legislators, ALEC has been described by the *New York Times* as a "stealth business lobbyist," and runs legislative campaigns across the country to prevent or repeal pro-solar policies.⁶⁶ In the past, it has boasted that its high success rate at passing legislation makes ALEC a "good investment."⁶⁷

ALEC has seen the introduction of its model "Electricity Freedom Act," legislation to repeal RES standards, in at least 19 states.⁶⁸ The group has pushed for solar power surcharges in Oklahoma, Kansas and Washington state.⁶⁹ And ALEC's "Updating Net Metering" resolution has inspired legislation to hamper net metering in Washington state and Utah.⁷⁰

Most recently, ALEC might be eyeing the PACE program – a financing mechanism for renewable energy that eliminates upfront cost barriers and some investment risk – as its potential next target. At a 2017 ALEC meeting, a "Resolution Regarding Property-Assessed Clean Energy Programs" was listed on the agenda as a proposed policy.⁷¹

ALEC's influence is often exerted through its legislator members, many of whom hold powerful positions in state politics. More than a third of Arizona's Republican legislators attended the 2017 annual ALEC meeting, a three-day conference in Denver in part funded by Arizona's biggest utilities like Arizona Public Service (APS) and the Salt River Project.⁷² Emails obtained by *The Arizona Daily Independent* revealed that state politicians often rely on APS lobbyists to pay for lapels, drinks and catered lunches.⁷³

ALEC legislative members were also involved in the Ohio clean energy freeze in 2014, which stalled the ramp-up of Ohio's renewable energy standard, rolled back energy efficiency provisions and created a committee on whether to dismantle even more of the law.⁷⁴ Ohio state senator Bill Seitz sits on ALEC's national board."⁷⁵ His advocacy on behalf of ALEC's position came despite ample evidence of the Clean Energy Law's benefits for Ohio's economy, including a reduction in electric bills and carbon emissions within four years.⁷⁶ Two ALEC members were on the state's six-person committee to decide the future of the state's frozen Clean Energy Law, and in September 2015, recommended to extend the freeze "indefinitely."⁷⁷ In 2016, Governor John Kasich vetoed a bill that would have continued the freeze, reinstating the state's original goals.⁷⁸

ALEC's influence even extends beyond state legislatures to state utility commissions. When the Arizona Corporation Commission voted to let Arizona Public Service increase costs for its solar customers in 2013, four of the five ACC commissioners were or had been ALEC members.⁷⁹



Deceptive Front Group: Consumer Energy Alliance

The Houston-based Consumer Energy Alliance (CEA), a front group for utilities and the fossil fuel industry, helped to pioneer deceptive tactics that other utilities and fossil fuel interests would later employ in their efforts to slow solar power's growth.⁸⁰ Calling itself the "voice of the energy consumer," CEA's members include ExxonMobil, Chevron and Shell Oil.⁸¹

CEA's policy aims are often hidden behind a seemingly pro-solar public image. For example, in October 2016, CEA hosted a petition on its homepage asking for signatures to "call on policymakers to create policies that are pro-solar, pro-grid and pro-consumer."⁸² The policies CEA promoted as pro-solar during its involvement in the 2016 Florida ballot election included eliminating net metering and introducing solar-specific fees.⁸³ CEA worked in Florida alongside the similarly-named and similarly-deceptive utility front group Consumers for Smart Solar. That group was a leading backer of Amendment 1, a failed proposal to create economic barriers to rooftop solar ownership.⁸⁴ CEA's Florida executive director, Kevin Doyle, wrote an op-ed in the *Orlando Sentinel* under the headline "Amendment 1 Would Boost Solar Energy and Benefit All." His op-ed hailed "the Sunshine State's advance in solar energy technology" in its support of a ballot initiative that saw universal opposition from the solar industry.⁸⁵

CEA continues fighting for utility companies across the country, shipping their advocates state-to-state to make their case. In 2017, CEA representative James Voyles gave public comment in support of Rocky Mountain Power's plan to charge rooftop solar fees in Utah.⁸⁶ Voyles also went to Indianapolis to testify in favor of a bill to eliminate net metering, which ultimately passed both houses of the state legislature.⁸⁷ With the governor's signature earlier this May, net metering will disappear in Indiana by 2027.⁸⁸



Lobbying in the States: Indiana Energy Association

Trade groups representing utilities at the state level have started to affect the fight over solar policy. The Indiana Energy Association (IEA), a state-specific industry group, represents Indiana's largest utilities, including Duke Energy and Indianapolis Power & Light Company.⁸⁹ In a state where solar energy is becoming cheaper and more popular – the price for solar arrays in Indiana has plummeted by 64 percent in the last five years, and more than 1,100 residents have solar panels and benefit from net metering – IEA has proved a powerful representative for utilities seeking to slow the growth of rooftop solar.⁹⁰ In 2015, IEA lobbied Indiana legislators to pass a bill lowering the reimbursement rate for net metering customers, despite there being only 600 net metering customers in the state at the time, as well as granting electric utilities the power to create solar-specific monthly fees and establish grid interconnection fees for customers with solar panels.⁹¹ Mark Maassel, IEA president and former president of Northern Indiana Public Service Company, another investor-owned utility represented by IEA, drafted multiple op-eds and letters to the editor against net metering, in addition to providing testimony supporting the anti-solar legislation.⁹²

The 2015 bill failed, but less than a week into the 2017 legislative session, state lawmakers pushed forward with a new bill to eliminate net metering.⁹³ Senator Brandt Hershman, a member of ALEC and previously a board advisor for another think tank with an anti-solar agenda, Heartland Institute, introduced the bill.⁹⁴ Indiana's five investor-owned utilities, all represented by IEA, are among the biggest political contributors in state politics, donating \$3 million over the past four election cycles.⁹⁵ During the previous Indiana elections in 2016, winning legislators received a total of nearly \$700,000 from electric utilities and fossil fuel companies; candidates who lost received short of \$13,000.⁹⁶

A week before the bill's committee hearing, IEA handed out talking points to statehouse politicians on the cost-shift theory, arguing that homeowners with solar panels are more of a cost liability than a net benefit.⁹⁷ A representative from the national antisolar group CEA also visited Indianapolis to testify in favor of the bill, which ultimately passed both houses of the state legislature.⁹⁸

With the governor's signature earlier this May, net metering will disappear in Indiana by 2027.⁹⁹ Only customers who install solar panels before December 31, 2017 will be able to keep the current net metering benefits for the next 30 years.¹⁰⁰ Net metering will be replaced with a "buy-all, sell-all" model – solar customers will not be allowed to use the power they generate; instead, they must sell it all to the utility at a wholesale rate and buy all the energy they use back at a higher price.¹⁰¹ The adoption of this model has made Indiana home to the most anti-solar policies for rooftop arrays, according to some solar advocates.¹⁰²

In response, businesses and homeowners are scurrying to meet the December 31 deadline, leaving local solar companies struggling to keep up.¹⁰³ Mayors from across the state also gathered in Indianapolis this September, urging lawmakers to pass more solar subsidies and reinstate net metering.¹⁰⁴ In October 2017, Indiana public schools testified against the elimination of net metering in front of a legislative study committee, claiming that net metering helped offset the cost of electricity so they could spend more of their taxpayer dollars on education.¹⁰⁵

Battling Solar in the States: Electric Utilities

While national trade groups, funders and think tanks provide the backbone of the national fight against local solar energy, electric utilities are leading the fight in state legislative offices and regulatory agencies.



Duke Energy, Florida Power and Light Company, Gulf Power Company and Tampa Electric Company: Waging a Deceptive Fight against Solar Energy in the Sunshine State

Florida, the Sunshine State, has not lived up to its name. Despite being one of the sunniest states on the East Coast, when it comes to solar capacity, Florida lags behind small northern states including New Jersey and Massachusetts.¹⁰⁶ As of 2017, Florida was one of just four states to ban third-party power purchase agreements, a popular financing option for home solar panel installations, and was one of the minority of states without a renewable electricity standard.¹⁰⁷ As a result, Florida's solar capacity lags well behind states with similar solar potential.¹⁰⁸ While Florida ranks third in the nation for rooftop solar potential, it is only 12th in installed solar capacity.¹⁰⁹ According to Project Sunroof, a Google tool that uses maps and satellite imagery to predict solar capacity, at least 88 percent of Florida's rooftops could install solar panels and generate enough clean energy to avoid 56.4 million tons of carbon from being emitted annually – the rough equivalent of taking 12 million cars off the road.¹¹⁰

In recent years, attacks on solar power have been led by Florida's largest utilities – Duke Energy, Florida Power and Light Company (FPL), Tampa Electric Company and Gulf Power Company – powerful companies with a long record of exerting political influence. A 2014 report by Integrity Florida tracked more than \$30 million in campaign and lobbying expenditures by the four utilities, and noted extensive revolving door practices by FPL, which hired or retained lobbying firms employing at least 18 former Public Service Commission officials.¹¹¹ In 2016, FPL and other state utilities came out in support of the anti-solar Amendment 1 ballot initiative, which would have put barriers to rooftop solar in the state constitution.¹¹² Amendment 1 was placed on the ballot by Consumers for Smart Solar, a group that received \$22 million of its \$26.4 million in campaign funds from Duke Energy, Florida Power and Light Company, Tampa Electric Company and Gulf Power Company.¹¹³ The Amendment 1 campaign also received \$1.8 million from the Koch-funded organization 60 Plus.¹¹⁴

Similar to the national fossil fuel front group Consumer Energy Alliance, Consumers for Smart Solar purported to be a pro-solar consumer group. The group's logo proclaimed "Yes on 1, for the sun," while its website claimed that the amendment "promotes solar in the Sunshine State, protects Florida's consumers from scams and rip-offs and guarantees the right to place solar panels on your home."¹¹⁵ The Miami Herald reported accounts that some petition gatherers for the campaign to put Amendment 1 on the ballot intentionally misled petition signers into thinking they were signing a petition for a competing, legitimately pro-solar energy ballot initiative (which ultimately failed to gualify for the ballot).¹¹⁶ One signer reported to the Herald that the Amendment 1 petition was described as a "revised, updated version" of the legitimate pro-solar petition.¹¹⁷

Florida Supreme Court Justice Barbara Pariente, who voted against allowing the bill on the ballot, wrote in a dissenting opinion of Amendment 1: "Masquerading as a pro-solar energy initiative, this proposed constitutional amendment, supported by some of Florida's major investor-owned electric utility companies, actually seeks to constitutionalize the status quo."¹¹⁸

Less than a month before the November election, an audio recording caught the policy director of the James Madison Institute (JMI) in Tallahassee, a think tank supported by Gulf Power Company, admitting the deceptive strategy behind Amendment 1.¹¹⁹ After noting that polls show solar energy to be extremely popular with the public, Sal Nuzzo, JMI's policy director, described Amendment 1 as "political *jiu jitsu*," and praised the political savviness of using "the language of promoting solar, and kind of, kind of put in these protections for consumers that choose not to install rooftop."¹²⁰

In November 2016, Amendment 1 was rejected by Florida voters, falling nine percentage points short of the 60 percent approval required for adoption into the state constitution.¹²¹

Despite the public loss, Florida utilities have continued attempts to shape the state's solar policy. Last year, Florida voters passed a ballot initiative that would cut property taxes on renewable energy equipment, including solar panels, by 80 percent.¹²² While state legislators were drafting the language that would implement the initiative, FPL lobbyists sent their own draft bill to state Representative Ray Rodrigues. A state attorney determined that FPL's version of the bill established "extensive requirements before a solar electric equipment can be installed," which would potentially be "a huge barrier" in selling rooftop solar panels.¹²³ Rodrigues later filed an amendment to the House's bill which featured language directly taken from FPL's draft in eight different sections.124



Arizona Public Service and Salt River Project: Battling Rooftop Solar in One of America's Best Solar States

In 2013, Arizona was one of the top states in the country in terms of total solar capacity, solar capacity per capita and number of solar jobs.¹²⁵ Yet today, Arizona is slipping from its position as a national solar leader, in part due to efforts by large utilities to slow the growth of rooftop solar in their service territories.¹²⁶

Arizona Public Service

Arizona Public Service (APS), the biggest utility in America's sunniest state, has waged an extensive battle against distributed solar energy in Arizona. In 2013, it was the first utility to charge for installed solar capacity on a per-kilowatt basis, increasing solar bills by an average of \$4.20 per month.¹²⁷ APS initially tried to pass a much higher monthly charge, nearly \$50 for most solar customers, but was forced into compromise by regulators after public outcry.¹²⁸

Since then, APS has worked to impose high costs on its solar customers, most directly through rate proposals to the Arizona Corporation Commission (ACC), which regulates Arizona's investor-owned utilities. Some of its efforts have been behind closed doors: APS has been accused of funding dark money political campaigns to elect members of the ACC and meeting with them in secret.¹²⁹

In 2016, APS spent \$4.2 million to influence campaigns for ACC commissioner.¹³⁰ In October, APS's parent company Pinnacle West formed the AZ Coalition for Reliable Energy, a group which aimed to spend at least \$1 million supporting the election of newcomer candidate Boyd Dunn and reelection campaigns of two ACC commissioners.¹³¹ All three were elected in 2016, and serve on the board today.¹³² After the ACC voted 4-1 in August 2017 to approve an immediate 3.3 percent rate hike - on average about \$80 more per year for all APS customers - the lone commissioner voting against, Bob Burns, raised questions about the ACC's ability to hear APS rate cases, between the utility's \$4.2 million spent on the 2016 election and another alleged \$3.2 million in 2014.133 Burns then filed a lawsuit with the Arizona Supreme Court to void the rate increase that is still under review.¹³⁴ In September 2017, Doug Little, one of the Republican commissioners elected to the ACC in 2014 and an alleged recipient of APS funding, was announced as the new deputy assistant secretary for intergovernmental and external affairs for the federal Department of Energy.¹³⁵

In APS' most recent rate case, filed with the ACC in June 2016, the utility proposed both instituting a demand charge for most of its customers while dramatically reducing net metering compensation for its solar customers. Under the proposal, net metering credits for consumer-generated solar would drop by more than three-quarters.¹³⁶ "It's a proposal guaranteed to stop APS's customers from going solar," said an attorney for the Energy Freedom Coalition of America, Court Rich.¹³⁷

The APS rate case was settled in March 2017 and finalized in August 2017, dropping the demand charge for all residential customers and granting current solar customers the original retail net metering rate for the next 20 years. But for new solar customers, net metering will no longer be an option: surplus energy will be sold back to the grid at a fixed credit rate, expected to decline by up to 10 percent each year.¹³⁸ The APS settlement increased the basic service charge for most residential customers – part of the bill that can't be mitigated by using solar or using less energy. APS is also forcing some customers to adopt time-of-use rates that are unfavorable to solar generation – instead of noon to 7 p.m., peak hours will be 3 p.m. to 8 p.m. in the summer.¹³⁹

Salt River Project

Salt River Project, a public utility that serves much of the Phoenix metropolitan area, devastated the growth of distributed solar power in its territory by imposing discriminatory charges for solar customers in 2015.¹⁴⁰ SRP's solar charge was based in part on an internal SRP analysis that, according to some critics, failed to account for solar energy's full value to the grid.¹⁴¹ The utility's estimate of solar energy's value was far below what similar studies conducted elsewhere have found.¹⁴²

The solar-specific charge crippled SRP's growth in rooftop generation. The year before SRP's new charge took effect, SRP added an average of nearly 400 new net metering customers per month.¹⁴³ In June 2017,



Fig 1. Salt River Project Rooftop Solar Growth Has Stagnated Since the Implementation of New Charges for Solar Customers¹⁴⁹

the latest month for which data is available, SRP added only 123 new net metering customers.¹⁴⁴

In 2015, Tesla Inc.'s SolarCity, a solar installer, filed a lawsuit against SRP for illegally maintaining a monopoly with these solar charges – based on geography, some customers have no choice but to connect to SRP's grid unless they have sufficient battery storage.¹⁴⁵ SRP tried to put the lawsuit on hold, claiming it was immune to antitrust suits because of its status as a quasi-public agency with state government oversight.¹⁴⁶ After the lower court ruled against SRP's argument, the utility appealed to the federal Ninth Circuit court only to be rejected again in June 2017.¹⁴⁷ In September 2017, SRP filed a petition with the U.S. Supreme Court to hear their case.¹⁴⁸



Imperial Irrigation District and San Diego Gas & Electric: Slowing Growth in the Top Solar State

California is America's solar powerhouse, home to nearly half of the country's total installed solar energy.¹⁵⁰ In 2016, the California Public Utilities Commission (CPUC) helped ensure that California's solar growth would continue, despite the efforts of California's largest investor-owned utilities, when it voted to mandate retail net metering for these private utility companies through 2019, affecting the majority of the state's residents.¹⁵¹ But the CPUC's decision to keep net metering does not apply to everyone. California's publicly-owned utilities are not regulated by the CPUC – rather, their net metering policy is bound by state 2010 legislation that allows publicly-owned utilities to cap their net metered solar energy systems at 5 percent of utility peak demand.¹⁵²

Shortly after the CPUC's 2016 decision was released, the Imperial Irrigation District (IID), a publicly-owned utility that serves over 6,000 square miles of California including parts of San Diego and Riverside counties, abruptly announced it would be ending its net metering payments for all new solar customers.¹⁵³ Because California allows publicly-owned utilities to devise their own formulas for calculating peak demand, IID determined it had reached its net metering cap earlier than it would have had it used a standardized methodology that the state requires investorowned utilities to use.¹⁵⁴

IID's decision not only stunted future solar energy growth in its territory, but it also stranded an estimated 1,200 owners of homes and businesses who had already signed contracts with solar installers, were in the midst of installing projects, or had already installed solar panels but not yet connected to the grid.¹⁵⁵ Because there was no alternative tariff adopted at the time that IID ended its net metering program, these 1,200 customers were not able to use their solar panels to generate their own electricity, much less receive compensation for the electricity they sent back to the electric grid.¹⁵⁶ Among the solar customers left stranded were several multi-family affordable housing projects and dozens of low-income families.¹⁵⁷

Finally, after six months of negotiations, with help from state legislators, IID signed an agreement that would grant interconnections and net metering benefits to most of its stranded customers, including those who had submitted an interconnection application before IID made its decision.¹⁵⁸ For new solar customers, IID has replaced net metering with a "buyall, sell-all" arrangement – customers buy energy from the grid at retail rate and sell back the surplus energy generated at a cheaper wholesale rate.¹⁵⁹ Meanwhile, other publicly-owned utilities in California, including Anza Electric Cooperative and Turlock Irrigation District, recently ended their net metering programs altogether.¹⁶⁰

Meanwhile, investor-owned utilities are finding ways around the state's net metering mandate by establishing new time-of-use rates. These changes shift the schedule of on-peak and off-peak hours to later in the day in order to minimize compensation for solar customers.¹⁶¹ For most rooftop solar installations, peak hours are noon to 6 p.m.¹⁶² San Diego Gas and Electric (SDG&E) filed a rate case this year to change its on-peak hours to 4 p.m. to 9 p.m. for both residential and commercial ratepayers, slashing the retail rate for net metering when panels are most productive, around midday.¹⁶³ A 2017 analysis by the Solar Energy Industries Association recommended that peak hours be scheduled earlier in the day, from 2 p.m. to 7 p.m., claiming that the utility analysis relied solely on energy production without factoring in transmission and distribution costs.¹⁶⁴

The CPUC first suggested the San Diego utility change its peak hours to start earlier at 3 p.m., but three days before the Commission vote, moved their suggested start time back to 4 p.m.¹⁶⁵ The CPUC approved the final change in August 2017.¹⁶⁶ Pacific Gas and Electric (PG&E) is now awaiting approval to move its peak rate hours as well, from noon to 6 p.m. currently to much later in the day, from 5 p.m. to 10 p.m.¹⁶⁷



Central Maine Power: Defeating Pro-Solar Legislation

This year, Central Maine Power, with the help of Governor Paul LePage, worked to defeat a bipartisan prosolar bill that would have encouraged the growth of community solar projects and preserved net metering policies.¹⁶⁸

The bill was introduced in response to a controversial decision to phase out net metering, made in February 2017 by public utility commissioners who were newly appointed by Governor LePage.¹⁶⁹ Both the Senate and the House passed the pro-solar bill in late June 2017, only to be struck down by the governor's veto.¹⁷⁰ Legislators nearly had enough votes to override Governor LePage, succeeding in the Senate but falling short in the House.¹⁷¹

Central Maine Power hired several lobbyists to testify against the bill and push lawmakers to vote no throughout the legislative session. Governor LePage also sent his staff to the statehouse to oppose the bill within two weeks of its introduction.¹⁷² After LePage's veto in July 2017, Central Maine Power spent at least \$8,100 on state lobbyists throughout July and August, flipping enough votes in the House to block any chance of an override.¹⁷³

There are strong ties between Central Maine Power and Governor LePage. In October 2016, LePage sent his energy advisor to recommend an end to net metering in front of the state's Public Utilities Commission.¹⁷⁴ Shortly after, Central Maine Power's political action committee donated \$1,000 to LePage's Increasing Citizen Engagement political action committee that channels campaign funds to Maine Republicans running for state office.¹⁷⁵ LePage's daughter, Lauren LePage, was recently hired by a lobbying team contracted by Central Maine Power.¹⁷⁶

In addition to LePage's support, Central Maine Power received support from EEI and the Consumer Energy Alliance.¹⁷⁷ EEI launched a social media campaign against the pro-solar bill, while CEA took out full-page ads in local newspapers.¹⁷⁸



American Electric Power: Influence in Ohio

American Electric Power (AEP), one of the biggest utilities in the country, is also one of the most aggressive backers of anti-solar legislation.

A huge utility, with more than 5 million customers in 11 states, AEP has used its money and influence to back anti-solar campaigns.¹⁷⁹ In Ohio, AEP mounted a campaign of legal and regulatory challenges to limit the value of net metering for its nearly 1.5 million customers.¹⁸⁰ In August 2016, AEP proposed to double the distribution charge for all customers from roughly \$8 to \$18 per month, regardless of how much energy they used.¹⁸¹ The company spokesperson blamed the rate increase on the growing number of customers who generate their own energy and receive retail rates for excess energy sold back to the grid.¹⁸² In August 2017, AEP decided to postpone this rate increase until 2020, instead reaching a settlement with staff of the Public Utilities Commission of Ohio (PUCO) to raise everyone's bills by less than \$1 per month.¹⁸³

AEP also appealed PUCO's decision in 2014 that electric customers are entitled to the retail rate of electricity they feed back into the grid from rooftop solar and other distributed generators, which increased net metering compensation by about 15 percent.¹⁸⁴ The case was still under review by the Ohio Supreme Court as of September 2017.¹⁸⁵ AEP also joined FirstEnergy and other state utilities in successfully pushing for the freeze of Ohio's renewable electricity standard, which resulted in a significant decrease in state solar investment while it remained in effect.¹⁸⁶



Rocky Mountain Power: Net Metering in Utah

In the past, Rocky Mountain Power (RMP) has tried to impose new costs on its solar customers, negatively impacting Utah's small but growing solar industry, which as of 2017 employed 4,408 people across the state.¹⁸⁷

In 2014, RMP lobbied for state legislation designed to make it easier to impose fees on solar customers in addition to filing two separate cases with the Utah Public Service Commission requesting permission to impose a solar surcharge.¹⁸⁸ Both requests were ultimately denied.¹⁸⁹

In November 2016, RMP returned to the Utah Public Service Commission with another proposal to change its net metering policy, potentially affecting the bills of its 20,000 rooftop solar customers.¹⁹⁰ The utility estimated that the result of the policy would be a \$20 increase in monthly bills for net metered customers, though solar industry experts warned that customers could see a much steeper hike of \$86.¹⁹¹ A June 2017 report by Utah Clean Energy found that net metering customers did not increase the cost to provide electricity as RMP suggested in the rate case, but instead cut into the utility's profits.¹⁹²

Two weeks before the case's hearing in front of the state's Public Service Commission, public comments poured in; in late July, the commission received hundreds of emails commenting on RMP's plan.¹⁹³ After its August hearing was delayed, RMP decided to negotiate with more than a dozen parties, including the Utah Division of Public Utilities and solar companies.¹⁹⁴ In September 2017, an agreement was reached to grandfather current solar customers into its net metering program through 2035 and offer new customers a "transitional" net metering rate – about a penny less per kilowatt-hour than the average retail rate – until 2020, when the utility's study on the value of solar study is complete.¹⁹⁵ In exchange, all customers face higher energy bills in order to compensate for the utility's expected loss in profits due to net metering.¹⁹⁶ In October 2017, the state commission approved the agreement, and the new policy will begin in mid-November of 2017.¹⁹⁷



An Exelon Company

Commonwealth Edison: Statewide Legislation:

In Illinois, solar energy is just starting to take off. Although Illinois only ranks 34th nationally for cumulative solar energy installed, the state installed 14 times more solar in the second quarter of 2017 than in the entirety of the previous year.¹⁹⁸ In 2016 Commonwealth Edison (ComEd) – Illinois' biggest utility, which serves 70 percent of the state's population – tried to change the way residential customers are charged for electricity in a way that would slow the state's burgeoning solar growth.

A subsidiary of Exelon, one of the nation's largest utilities, ComEd set its focus on implementing a

statewide demand charge for residential customers. Illinois Attorney General Lisa Madigan has noted that "by subjecting consumers to demand rates, ComEd's proposal could unfairly allow consumers to be charged more for using less."¹⁹⁹

ComEd's proposal would have reduced the value of net metering while instituting a statewide demand charge.²⁰⁰ A compromise was reached late last year after backlash from environmental groups and Governor Rauner, which removed the anti-solar policies from the bill.²⁰¹

ComEd was not alone among utilities in pushing for a demand charge – in Arizona, for example, the Salt River Project has imposed a demand charge on its solar customers, which has resulted in stagnant solar growth. Yet ComEd's original demand charge proposal was novel in that it was through the state legislature, and would have resulted in mandatory residential demand charges throughout the state, as opposed to just the utility's customers.

The latest proposal follows anti-solar legislation first proposed in 2015. After the original bill's failure in 2015, ComEd and parent company Exelon donated heavily to state politicians. Exelon donated over \$240,000 to Illinois lawmakers' campaigns in 2016, while ComEd donated over \$320,000. Meanwhile, Exelon and ComEd have combined to contribute more than \$50,000 over the past 10 years to state Senator Donne Trotter.²⁰² Senator Trotter was the chief sponsor of demand charge legislation proposed in 2016, and is also a member of the Illinois General Assembly Committee for Energy and Public Utilities, through which the statewide demand charge legislation would have had to pass through before becoming law.²⁰³

ComEd promoted its demand charge legislation through a group it founded in 2016, the Illinois Smart Solar Alliance (ISSA).²⁰⁴ Like the national fossil fuel front group Consumer Energy Alliance, and the Florida utility group Consumers for Smart Solar, ISSA misleadingly branded itself as a pro-solar consumer group, calling on the public to "help Illinois grow its clean energy future."²⁰⁵



El Paso Electric: Minimum Monthly Fees

El Paso Electric (EPE) is a Texas-based utility providing power to more than a million residents in western Texas and New Mexico.²⁰⁶

The utility has filed consecutive rate cases in recent years to discourage the growth of rooftop solar.²⁰⁷ In 2015, the utility tried to create a new rate class for solar customers with extra charges, a proposal it later dropped after negotiations with solar advocates and the Texas Public Utilities Commission (PUCT).²⁰⁸ The PUCT instead allowed EPE to add a 21-cent monthly surcharge to all its customers for two years to recoup the \$3.1 million cost of filing and settling the case.²⁰⁹

In February 2017, the utility filed a new rate plan to increase monthly bills of all customers by \$8.25 on average.²¹⁰ The 2,800 customers generating rooftop power would be put into a separate class and their average price hike would be nearly twice as steep at \$14.09.²¹¹ In August 2017, Texas state senator Jose Rodriguez wrote a letter to the El Paso City Council to oppose the plan: "If EPE gets its way, only solar customers would be charged more for wanting to rely on EPE's grid less," he wrote.²¹²

The rate case went into a hearing with the PUCT on August 21.²¹³ Three days later, EPE cancelled the hearing to try and reach a compromise with the city of El Paso, which opposed the rate changes.²¹⁴ During the negotiation, EPE scrapped its plans to create a separate rate class for existing solar customers.²¹⁵ In exchange, new solar customers would have to pay a minimum monthly fee of \$30, even if their electric bills ended up being less.²¹⁶ Similar to its last rate case, EPE tacked on a surcharge for all ratepayers to foot EPE's \$3 million expense for filing and negotiation fees.²¹⁷ The PUCT is expected to rule on the settlement by the end of 2017.



Nevada Energy: Rooftop Solar Prevails

Nevada Energy (NV Energy), the state's largest utility, successfully campaigned to eliminate net metering and institute new charges for its solar customers as the state was becoming a leader in rooftop solar power. In 2013, Nevada had the fastest growth of solar jobs and the largest number of solar jobs per capita in the country.²¹⁸ By the end of 2015, Nevada had more cumulative solar capacity per person than any state in the country.²¹⁹

In 2015, NV Energy began a push for new fees for solar customers and proposed putting solar customers into a new, more expensive rate class.²²⁰ NV Energy also worked to keep in place Nevada's net metering cap as solar companies in the state claimed that NV Energy misled them about the speed at which the cap would be reached.²²¹

In December 2015, the Public Utilities Commission of Nevada (PUCN) voted to triple the fixed charges that customers with rooftop solar will have to pay over the next 12 years while also slashing the net metering benefits received by solar customers.²²² The decision was supported by the political action committee Citizens for Solar Energy Fairness, a group funded by NV Energy.²²³ That group aired ads characterizing net metering as a "subsidy with no limits."²²⁴ NV Energy's charges and reduced compensation for solar customers temporarily crippled the growth of solar energy. During 2015, prior to the changes, NV Energy added an average of more than 1,000 new net metering customers every month.²²⁵ In September 2016, NV Energy reached its lowest enrollment with only 34 new net metering customers.²²⁶

The anti-solar policies led to the exodus of clean tech companies like Tesla's SolarCity from the state, taking with them local jobs and investments.²²⁷ NV Energy's largest customer, MGM Resorts International, which owns most properties on the Las Vegas strip, defected from the grid in October 2016, in part to seek more affordable renewable energy.²²⁸ Coupled with citizen concerns over the rapid loss of solar jobs and worry that the state was infringing on citizens' right to generate energy, Governor Brian Sandoval built a special task force in 2016, urging legislators to repeal the anti-solar policies.²²⁹ That September, a Nevada judge also ruled that the PUCN violated "fairness and due process" by revoking one-to-one net metering for existing solar customers.²³⁰

In June 2017, Governor Sandoval signed an unanimously passed bill to restore net metering up to 95 percent of the retail rate and ban utilities from charging extra fees to solar customers.²³¹ NV Energy's number of new net metering customers has started to slowly increase again, with 207 enrollments in June compared to 98 in January of 2017.²³²

After the bill was signed, NV Energy announced a new plan in July 2017 to increase the basic fixed payment for all customers while lowering the rate paid for energy used.²³³ Solar advocates argued that the new plan didn't make environmental sense: it decreased the incentive to conserve energy while forcing those who generate clean power to pay more.²³⁴ Two months later, the Public Utilities Commission of Nevada ruled against the new plan, calling the utility's attempt to change rates outside the standard three-year process as "absurd."²³⁵





Utilities Fighting Rooftop Solar Earlier in Emerging Markets

As solar panel prices continue to fall, rooftop solar systems are beginning to catch on with Americans living in states that have historically lagged in solar generation. Even in these emerging markets, where the effect of distributed generation on utility revenue is likely small, utilities are revving up to stop the solar revolution before it gains momentum.

Kansas

After a failed attempt to leverage a fee on solar customers in 2015, Kansas utility Westar Energy returned to the state's regulatory commission for utilities, the Kansas Corporation Commission (KCC). In September 2017, the KCC ruled that utilities could charge higher rates for electricity to residential customers with rooftop solar.²³⁷ The KCC sided with utilities, citing their internal analyses that cost-shift was happening and their concerns over revenue were real.²³⁸ The utility reports, unverified by a third-party, raised eyebrows among solar advocates, who argued that solar penetration in Kansas is nowhere close to significantly impacting utility profits.²³⁹ Westar currently serves 700,000 customers in the state, 710 of which have rooftop solar installations.²⁴⁰

Montana

Following heated conversations during the 2015 legislative session, five bills related to net metering were proposed for the next legislative year.²⁴¹ During the 2017 legislative session, North-Western Energy, the state's dominant utility, came out in support of a bill to lessen the value of net metering credits.²⁴² Of the 363,000 customers NorthWestern Energy serves in Montana, less than 0.5 percent (1,800 customers) own solar panels.²⁴³

Though the Montana Legislature approved the bill to eliminate net metering, Governor Steve Bullock vetoed it in April 2017, calling for the state's regulatory commission to investigate the cost-shift phenomenon before taking action.²⁴⁴ The Montana Public Service Commission established the study's criteria to focus on both the costs and benefits of net metering that have "a direct impact on the utility system."²⁴⁵ NorthWestern Energy began its study in August 2017, to be completed by April 2018.²⁴⁶

A smaller utility that serves the eastern part of the state, Montana Dakota Utilities, tried and failed in 2016 to institute demand charges on households with rooftop solar; it reported serving four net metering customers in January 2017.²⁴⁷

Conclusion

Solar power has been almost universally embraced by the American public and is delivering benefits to the environment and economy. Widespread popular support for solar energy, combined with a growing understanding of solar energy's benefits, has limited the success of fossil fuel interests' anti-solar lobbying campaigns.

States where solar potential is high have taken an especially hard hit from opposition to solar energy by fossil fuel and utility interests. In parts of Arizona, residential solar energy is being installed at a slower pace; and in Florida, the Sunshine State, rooftop solar is barely getting a foothold. Well-funded attacks on key solar policies have left the rooftop solar industry in both fledgling and established markets fighting to survive. And with industry interests now well represented in the federal government, state-level solar policy will play an even more crucial role in ensuring we unleash the next wave of clean energy innovation and deployment.

Recommendations:

State decision-makers should resist utility and fossil fuel industry attempts to reduce the economic viability of distributed solar energy, and reject policies such as:

- Elimination of, restrictions on, or unfair caps on net metering;
- Discriminatory surcharges or tariffs for solar customers;
- Utility rate designs that discourage solar adoption;
- Unnecessary regulatory burdens on solar energy; and
- Rollbacks of renewable electricity standards.

In addition, state leaders can do more to encourage solar energy's growth. They should embrace ambitious goals for solar energy and adopt policies that will help meet them, including:

- Considering the benefits of distributed solar energy to the grid, to ratepayers and to society in any rate making or policy decisions about solar energy;
- Implementing strong net metering and interconnection standards, which enable many customers to meet their own electricity needs with solar power;
- Encouraging community shared solar projects and virtual net metering, which can expand solar access to more customers;
- Enacting or expanding solar or distributed renewable energy carve-outs and renewable electricity standards;
- Enabling financing mechanisms to allow for greater solar access to businesses and residents;
- Allowing companies other than utilities to sell or lease solar to residents and businesses; and
- Making smart investments to move toward a more intelligent electric grid that will enable distributed sources of energy such as solar power to play a larger role.

Policymakers should also uphold our country's commitment to reduce carbon pollution, and ensure that solar power plays a major role in any strategy to reduce global warming pollution.

Notes

1 Prices: Shayle Kann et al., GTM Research and SEIA, U.S. Solar Market Insight Report - 2014 Year in Review, 10 March 2015; One million installations: GTM Research and SEIA, U.S. Solar Market Insight Report- 2016 Q3, 12 September 2016.

2 GTM Research and Solar Energy Industries Association, *Solar Market Insight Report 2017 Q2*, 8 June 2017, archived 26 October 2017 at web.archive.org/ web/20171026172726/https://www.seia.org/us-solar-market-insight.

3 Ibid; cars estimate based on generation data from the EIA Electricity Data Browser (link? Date accessed?); carbon dioxide pollution averted estimated using EPA Greenhouse Gas Equivalencies Calculator, archived 26 October 2017 at web.archive.org/web/20171026172812/ https://www.epa.gov/energy/greenhouse-gas-equivalencies-calculator.

4 The Solar Foundation, *National Solar Jobs Census 2016*, January 2017, archived 26 October 2017 at web. archive.org/web/20171026172845/https://www.thesolarfoundation.org/national/.

5 Brian Kennedy, Pew Research Center, *Americans* Strongly Favor Expanding Solar Power to Help Address Costs and Environmental Concerns, 5 October 2016, available at www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2016/10/05/americansstrongly-favor-expanding-solar-power-to-help-addresscosts-and-environmental-concerns/. 6 Policy actions were included if they had to do with residential fixed cost increases, community solar, net metering, or residential solar charges: Benjamin Inskeep et al., NC Clean Energy Technology Study and Meister Consultants Group, *The 50 States of Solar – Q2 2017* (executive summary), July 2017, archived 26 October 2017 at web. archive.org/web/20171026173055/https://nccleantech. ncsu.edu/wp-content/uploads/Q22017-SolarExecSummary-v.2.pdf.

7 Gideon Weissman, Rob Sargent and Bret Fanshaw, Frontier Group and Environment America, *Renewables on the Rise*, July 2017.

8 Residential price drop: Galen Barbose and Naïm Darghouth, *Tracking the Sun IX: The Installed Price of Residential and Non-Residential Photovoltaic Systems in the United States*, August 2016.

9 Gideon Weissman, Rob Sargent and Bret Fanshaw, Frontier Group and Environment America, *Lighting the Way 4*, July 2016.

10 D. Steward and E. Doris, National Renewable Energy Laboratory, *The Effect of State Policy Suites on the Development of Solar Markets*, November 2014.

- 11 See note 9.
- 12 Ibid.

13 Jeff St. John, "With Net Metering Secure, California Solar Now Faces Uncertainty from Time-of-Use Changes," *Greentech Media*, 16 February 2017.

14 Frank Andorka and Christian Roselund, "Net Metering Is Dead. Long Live Net Metering," *PV Magazine*, 12 July 2017. 15 Koch vs. Clean, *Thomas Pyle*, archived 26 October 2017 at web.archive.org/web/20171026173110/http://www. kochvsclean.com/thomas-pyle/.

16 Attacks on RPS: Gabe Elsner and Matt Kasper, Energy and Policy Institute, *Attacks on Renewable Energy Policies 2015,* 2015, accessed at d3n8a8pro7vhmx. cloudfront.net/energyandpolicy/pages/472/attachments/original/1438288015/Energy-and-Policy-Institute-Attacks-on-Renewable-Energy-Policies-in-2015-Final. pdf?1438288015; transition team: Sheldon Whitehouse, U.S. Senator for Rhode Island, *Senators to Trump: Drain Swamp at EPA, DOE, DOI* (press release), 1 December 2016, archived 26 October 2017 at web.archive.org/ web/20171026173249/https://www.whitehouse.senate. gov/news/release/senators-to-trump-drain-the-swamp-atepa-doe-doi.

17 CEI funding: DeSmog Blog, *Competitive Enterprise Institute*, archived 26 October 2017 at web.archive.org/ web/20171026173308/https://www.desmogblog.com/ competitive-enterprise-institute; CEI against net metering: Andrew Follet, "Congress Asked to Eliminate \$270 Million A Year in Solar Subsidies," *The Daily Caller*, 26 April 2017; Ebell EPA: Henry Fountain, "Trump's Climate Contrarian: Myron Ebell Takes on the EPA," *The New York Times*, 11 November 2016.

18 Juliet Eilperin and Brady Dennis, "Trump Puts Critic of Renewable Energy in Charge of Renewable Energy Office," *The Washington Post,* 2 May 2017.

19 Dave Anderson, "Daniel Simmons: New Head of EERE Worked for Groups that Tried to 'Eliminate' it," *Energy and Policy Institute*, accessed 4 October 2017 at www. energyandpolicy.org/daniel-simmons-trump-doe-eereeliminate/.

20 Timothy Cama, "Senate panel approves five Interior, Energy nominees after delayed vote," *The Hill*, 3 August 2017. 21 Matt Kasper, "Utility Industry Set to Get Another Ally Inside the Trump Administration," *Energy and Policy Institute*, accessed 4 October 2017 at www.energyandpolicy. org/utility-industry-ally-mark-menezes/.

22 Benjamin Hanna, "FERC Net Metering Decisions Keep States in the Dark," *Boston College Environmental Affairs Law Review*, January 2015, available at lawdigitalcommons. bc.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=2156&context=ealr.

23 Chatterjee appointment: United States Senate, Legislation & Records, archived 26 July 2017 at web.archive. org/web/20170726171449/https://www.senate.gov/legislative/nom confc.htm; NRECA lobbying: Robert Walton, "Senate committee advances Trump's FERC nominees", UtilityDive, 6 June 2017, archived 22 October 2017 at web. archive.org/web/20171022035224/http://www.utilitydive.com/news/senate-committee-advances-trumpsferc-nominees/444353/; NRECA Amendment 1 support: Ballotpedia, Florida Solar Energy Subsidies and Personal Solar Use, Amendment 1, 2016, accessed 26 October 2017 at ballotpedia.org/Florida Solar Energy Subsidies and Personal Solar Use, Amendment 1 (2016); NRECA other anti-solar policy stances: Jonathan Harsch, "Taking Renewable Energy Beyond Net Metering", Agri-Pulse, September 1, 2016.

24 Ben Lefebvre, "The Texas think tank filling out Trump's energy, environment team", *PoliticoPro*, 16 October 2017, accessible with paid subscription at www. politicopro.com/energy/story/2017/10/the-texas-thinktank-filling-out-trumps-energy-environment-team-160592.

25 DeSmog Blog, *Kathleen Hartnett-White,* archived 20 June 2017 at web.archive.org/web/20170620004855/ https://www.desmogblog.com/kathleen-hartnett-white.

26 Danielle Ivory and Robert Faturechi, "The Deep Industry Ties of Trump's Deregulation Teams," *New York Times*, 11 July 2017. 27 Dave Anderson, "Travis Fisher: Author of Rick Perry's grid study called clean energy policies a greater threat than terrorism," *Energy and Policy Institute*, archived 20 October 2017 at web.archive.org/web/20171020010606/ http://www.energyandpolicy.org/travis-fisher-rick-perrygrid-study/.

28 Naïm R. Darghouth et al., Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, *Net Metering and Market Feedback Loops: Exploring the Impact of Retail Rate Design on Distributed PV Deployment*, July 2015.

29 See note 6.

30 OpenSecrets, *Top Industries for 2017*, accessed 21 September 2017 at www.opensecrets.org/lobby/top. php?showYear=2017&indexType=i.

31 Cary Funk and Brian Kennedy, "Public Opinion on Renewables and Other Energy Sources," *Pew Research Center*, archived 22 October 2017 at web.archive. org/web/20171022061107/http://www.pewinternet. org/2016/10/04/public-opinion-on-renewables-and-otherenergy-sources/.

32 Caroly Kormann, "Greening the Tea Party," *The New Yorker*, 17 February 2015.

33 Ivan Penn, "Conservative Solar Proponents Decry Attack on Ballot Initiative as 'Campaign of Deception'," *Tampa Bay Times*, available at www.tampabay.com/news/ business/energy/conservative-solar-proponents-decryattack-on-ballot-initiative-as/2220465, 7 March 2015.

34 Kathiann M. Kowalski, "Poll: Even Ohio's coal country supports more use of clean energy," *Midwest Energy News*, 1 September 2017.

35 One example of public relations campaign: Americans for Prosperity – Kansas, *Repeal RPS in Kansas*, available at www.youtube.com/watch?v=RoN4v-TvQIY, 28 January 2014. 36 Presentation slides from EEI board and chief executives meeting, 12 September 2014, archived 8 September 2017 at web.archive.org/web/20170908120841/https:// www.documentcloud.org/documents/1374670-2012-eeiboard-and-chief-executives-meeting.html.

37 Peter Kind, Energy Infrastructure Advocates, prepared for EEI, *Disruptive Challenges: Financial Implications and Strategic Responses to a Changing Retail Electric Business*, January 2013, available at www.ourenergypolicy. org/wp-content/uploads/2013/09/disruptivechallenges-1. pdf.

38 EEI's ALEC funding: Gabe Elsner, "Edison Electric Institute's Anti-Solar, PR Spending Revealed," The Huffington Post, 22 January 2015, available at www. huffingtonpost.com/gabe-elsner/edison-electricinstitute b 6519230.html; sample bill language and Brian McCormick's involvement: Gabe Elsner, "The Campaign Against Net Metering: ALEC and Utility Interests' Next Attack on Clean Energy Surfaces in Arizona", Energy and Policy Institute, 18 November 2013, archived 2 April 2016 at web.archive.org/web/20160402042829/http://www. energyandpolicy.org/the_campaign_against_net_metering alec and utility interests next attack on clean energy surfaces in arizona; ALEC received EEI funding as of 2014: EEI IRS form 990 for 2014, available at www. documentcloud.org/documents/2638497-2014-EEI-990. html.

39 Edison Electric Institute and Maslanksy & Partners, *The Future of Energy: A Common Language for a Shared Vision* (presentation), accessed 10 October 2017 at www. documentcloud.org/documents/3509180-EEI-s-Lexicon-Presentation-to-NARUC-November-2016.html#document/ p20/a342541.

40 Dave Anderson, "The Edison Electric Institute's Disinformation Handbook", *Utility Secrets*, 7 March 2017, archived 6 September 2017 at web.archive.org/ web/20170906125014/http://www.utilitysecrets.org/eeilexicon-project/. 41 Since 2014: Andrew Seifter, "Anti-Solar Op-Ed Writer Claims to Speak for Poor Minorities Actually Works with Utilities," *Media Matters for America*, 26 October 2015; Illinois: Monica Martinez, "Opinion: Reform 'Net Metering' for Equity with Solar Power," *The Daily Herald*, 23 May 2016; Utah: Monica Martinez, "Op-ed: Solar Energy Contributes to Income Inequality," *Desert News*, 19 August 2017.

42 Matt Kasper, "Utility Industry Third-Parties Emerge in Utah to Defend Rocky Mountain Power's Proposed Solar Fees," *Energy and Policy Institute,* archived 26 October 2017 at web.archive.org/web/20170921032617/ http://www.energyandpolicy.org/utah-rocky-mountainpower-proposed-solar-fees/.

43 Hispanics In Energy, *Hispanics in Energy Thanks Its Partners*, archived 26 October 2017 at web.archive.org/ web/20161228122238/http://www.hispanicsinenergy.com/ partners.html.

44 Julia Pyper, "Deep Politics, Dark Money and Fraud Join the Solar Party," *GreenTech Media*, archived 12 June 2016 at web.archive.org/web/20161012195711/http://www. greentechmedia.com/articles/read/Deep-Politics-Dark-Money-And-Fraud-Join-the-Solar-Party.

45 Energy and Policy Institute, *Paying for Utility Politics: How Ratepayers Are Forced to Fund the Edison Electric Institute and Other Political Organizations,* archived 17 October 2017 at web.archive.org/web/20171017202720/ http://www.energyandpolicy.org/utility-ratepayers-fundthe-edison-electric-institute/.

46 California Public Utilities Commission, *Proposed Decision: Agenda #14185,* archived 8 September 2017 at web.archive.org/web/20170908034907/https://www.documentcloud.org/documents/3239245-COMPENSATION-to-TURN-for-SUBSTANTIAL.html.

47 See note 45.

48 See note 26.

49 Associated Press, "Koch Brothers' Network Focusing on GOP Senate, not Trump," *Fortune*, 16 October 2016, available at fortune.com/2016/10/16/koch-brothers-gopsenate/.

50 Walker Davis, "Americans for Prosperity Tripled State Lobbyists in Past Four Years," *Citizens for Responsibility and Ethics in Washington*, accessed 13 September 2017 at www.citizensforethics.org/americans-prosperity-tripledstate-lobbyists-past-four-years/.

51 ALEC funding connection: Lisa Graves, "ALEC Exposed: The Koch Connection," *The Nation*, 12 July 2011, archived 11 August 2011 at web.archive.org/ web/20110811200606/http://www.thenation.com/article/161973/alec-exposed-koch-connection; Koch state campaigns: Evan Halper, "Koch Brothers, Big Utilities Attack Solar, Green Energy Policies," *LA Times*, 19 April 2014, available at www.latimes.com/nation/la-na-solar-kochs-20140420-story.html.

52 David Wichner, "Tucson Electric Power's Solar Rate Plan Jeered, Cheered at Public Hearing," *Arizona Daily Star*, 27 June 2017.

53 Michael Casey, "Fight over renewable energy comes to New Hampshire," *Electric Light & Power*, 13 February 2017.

54 Tim Dickinson, "The Koch Brothers' Dirty War on Solar Power", *Rolling Stone*, 2016, archived 11 February 2016 at web.archive.org/web/20161012210912/http:// www.rollingstone.com/politics/news/the-koch-brothersdirty-war-on-solarpower-20160211; see note 23.

55 Jeffrey Schweers, "Solar Ballot Measure Falls Short," *The Tallahassee Democrat*, 9 November 2016.

56 Frank Morris, "Groups Warn of Dangers with Funding of Universities by Koch Brothers," *NPR: All Things Considered,* 22 December 2014. 57 Koch funding for PERC: Property and Environment Research Center, *2015 Annual Report*, archived 14 November 2016 at web.archive.org/web/20161114161258/ http://www.perc.org/system/files/attachments/PERC_ 2015AnnualReport_2020RoadMap_0.pdf; Simmons at PERC: Property and Environment Research Center, Randy Simmons staff page, archived 11 September 2015 at web. archive.org/web/20150911081241/http://www.perc.org/ staff/randy-simmons; Koch Scholars: Erik Wemple, "Newsweek Adds Disclosure about Koch Ties of Professor Who Wrote Anti-Wind Power Piece," *The Washington Post*, 21 April 2015.

58 Erik Wemple, "Newsweek Adds Disclosure about Koch Ties of Professor Who Wrote Anti-Wind Power Piece," *The Washington Post*, 21 April 2015.

59 Recession study: Michael Goggin, AWEA, *Cookiecutter Koch Study in North Carolina Still Suffers from Same Errors, Plus Some New Ones*, 23 March 2015, available at www. aweablog.org/cookie-cutter-koch-study-in-north-carolina-still-suffers-from-same-errors-plus-some-new-ones/; Ohio study: Randy Simmons et al., Utah State University Institute of Political Economy, Renewable Portfolio Stan*dards: Ohio*, 29 April 2015; this report is available through the Heartland Institute website, archived 14 November 2016 at web.archive.org/web/20161114162512/https:// www.heartland.org/publications-resources/publications/ renewable-portfolio-standards-ohio.

60 Steve Eder, "Neomi Rao, the Scholar Who Will Help Lead Trump's Regulatory Overhaul", *The New York Times*, 9 July 2017.

61 Curtis W. Copeland, *Federal Rulemaking: The Role* of the Office of Information and Regulatory Affairs, Congressional Research Service, 9 June 2009, archived 22 August 2017 at web.archive.org/web/20170822085204/https://fas. org/sgp/crs/misc/RL32397.pdf.

- 62 See note 15.
- 63 Ibid.

64 More than 2,000 members: ALEC, *Membership*, archived 14 May 2015 at web.archive.org/ web/20150514213738/http://www.alec.org/membership/.

65 Matt Kasper, "How A Powerful Group Of Corporations Quietly Tried To Roll Back Clean Energy Standards, And Failed Miserably," *Climate Progress*, 8 August 2013, archived 17 July 2016 at web.archive.org/ web/20160717072720/http://thinkprogress.org:80/ climate/2013/08/08/2399121/corporations-cleanenergy-standards/; Connor Gibson, Greenpeace, *Coal And Oil Polluters Dominate Alec Conference*, July 2014, available at https://greenpeaceblogs.org/2014/07/31/ coal-oil-polluters-dominate-alec-conference/? ga=1.176132134.501859317.143207512931.

66 Mike McIntire, "Conservative Non-Profit Acts as a Stealth Business Lobbyist", *The New York Times*, 21 April 2012.

67 People for the American Way, ALEC: The Voice of Corporate Special Interests in State Legislatures, archived 17 July 2015 at web.archive.org/web/20150617172016/http:// www.pfaw.org/rww-in-focus/alec-the-voice-of-corporatespecial-interests-state-legislatures.

68 See note 65.

69 The New York Times Editorial Board, "The Koch Attack on Solar Energy," *The New York Times*, 26 April 2014; Washington state: Lucy Woods, "Washington State Rejects Net Metering Fee and Solar Leasing 'Monopoly' Legislation," *PVTech*, 17 March 2014 available at www.pv-tech.org/ news/washington_state_rejects_net_metering_fee_and_ solar_leasing_monopoly_legisl. 70 Washington state: Lucy Woods, "Washington State Rejects Net Metering Fee and Solar Leasing 'Monopoly' Legislation," *PVTech*, 17 March 2014, available at www.pv-tech.org/news/washington_state_rejects_net_ metering_fee_and_solar_leasing_monopoly_legisl; Curt Bramble, who introduced anti-net metering legislation in Utah, was on ALEC national board: ALEC, *ALEC Board of Directors*, archived 12 April 2012 at web.archive.org/ web/20120412014622/http://www.alec.org/about-alec/ board-of-directors; information on bill SB208: Brian Maffly, "Utah Bill to Impose Fees on Solar Power Users Advances," *The Salt Lake Tribune*, 24 February 2014.

71 ALEC website, 2017 Spring Task Force Summit – Charlotte, North Carolina, archived 18 October 2017 at web. archive.org/web/20171018184654/https://www.alec.org/ meeting-session/energy-environment-and-agriculturetask-force-meeting-4/.

72 Yvonne Wingett Sanchez, "Arizona Legislators Attend Conference with Corporations that Lobby Them at Home," *The Arizona Republic*, 23 July 2017.

73 ADI News Services, "Ratepayers Can't Compete with APS for Access," *Arizona Daily Independent*, 18 September 2017.

74 The New York Times Editorial Board, "The Koch Attack on Solar Energy," *The New York Times*, 26 April 2014.

75 State Sen. Bill Seitz on ALEC national board: ALEC, *National Board*, archived 3 June 2015 at web.archive.org/ web/20150603144423/http://www.alec.org/about-alec/ board-of-directors/; State Sen. Bill Seitz "Stalin" remarks: Julie Carr Smyth, "Foes of Ohio Clean Energy Bill Criticize Senator," *Akron Beacon Journal*, 22 April 2014, archived 3 June 2015 at web.archive.org/web/20150603144229/http:// www.ohio.com/news/foes-of-ohio-clean-energy-bill-criticize-senator-1.482609. 76 The Center for Resilience at Ohio State University, *Economic Analysis of Ohio's' Renewable and Energy Efficiency Standards*, 25 September 2013, archived 9 June 2015 at web.archive.org/web/20150609135151/http://www. ohiomfg.com/wp-content/uploads/2013-10-04_lb_energy_deeps_sept25_2013_model_results.pdf.

77 Anastasia Pantsios, "How ALEC Stacks Deck against Renewables in Ohio," *EcoWatch*, 8 October 2014, archived 3 June 2015 at web.archive.org/ web/20150603144125/http://ecowatch.com/2014/10/08/ alec-renewable-energy-ohio/.

The General Assembly of the State of Ohio, "The Energy Mandates Study Committee Co-Chairs' Report", 30 September 2015, available at emsc.legislature.ohio.gov/ Assets/Reports/emsc-final-report.pdf.

78 Kathiann M. Kowalski, "Ohio Clean Energy Standards Resume, But Still Weakened by 2014 Laws," *Midwest Energy News*, 3 January 2017.

79 Kiley Kroh, "In Heated Arizona Solar Battle, Top Regulators Tied to ALEC," *ThinkProgress*, 1 November 2013, archived 2 June 2015 at web.archive.org/ web/20150602223308/http://thinkprogress.org/climate/2013/11/01/2873071/arizona-solar-battle/.

80 Consumer Energy Alliance, *About Consumer* Energy Alliance, archived 8 June 2015 at web.archive.org/ web/20150608134720/http://consumerenergyalliance.org/ about-consumer-energy-alliance/.

81 Quote: ibid; members: Consumer Energy Alliance, *Members*, archived 5 June 2015 at web.archive.org/ web/20150605214611/http://consumerenergyalliance.org/ about-consumer-energy-alliance/members/.

82 Consumer Energy Alliance, *Voice Your Support for Solar Energy*, 15 September 2016, archived 13 October 2016 at web.archive.org/web/20161013171606/http://consumerenergyalliance.org/2016/09/voice-support-solar-energy/. 83 David Pomerantz, "Consumer Energy Alliance, Group behind Fraudulent Petitions and Letters Signed by Dead People, Releases Anti-Solar Report," 12 October 2016, archived 18 October 2017 at web.archive.org/ web/20171018202427/http://www.energyandpolicy.org/ consumer-energy-alliance-group-behind-fraudulentpetitions-letters-signed-dead-people-releases-anti-solarreport/.

84 Consumers for Smart Solar tactics: Mary Ellen Klas, "Rival Solar Petitions Spawn Confusion, Race for Signatures," *The Miami Herald*, 30 October 2015. CEA: See note 84.

85 Kevin Doyle, "Amendment 1 Would Boost Solar Energy and Benefit All: My Word," *Orlando Sentinel (op-ed),* 12 June 2016.

86 See note 42.

87 Ibid.

88 Niki Kelly, "Holcomb Signs Solar Energy Bill," *The Journal Gazette*, 3 May 2017.

89 Indiana Energy Association, *About Us: Members*, archived 21 February 2017 at web.archive.org/ web/20170221140533/http://www.indianaenergy.org/ members.html.

90 Price of solar: Solar Energy Industries Association, Indiana Fact Sheet, 2017, archived 26 October 2017 at web. archive.org/web/20171026181351/https://www.seia.org/ sites/default/files/2017%20Q1%20IN_0.pdf; number of net metering customers in Indiana: Robert King, "Solar energy at crossroads in Indiana," Indy Star, 21 March 2017.

91 Herman Trabish, "Inside the Coming Showdown over Rooftop Solar in Indiana", *UtilityDive*, 23 January 2015. 600 customers: Energy and Policy Institute, "The Indiana Energy Association" (*webpage*), accessed at http://www. energyandpolicy.org/renewable-energy-state-policyattacks-report-2015/indiana-energy-association/ on 23 October 2015. 92 Energy and Policy Institute, "The Indiana Energy Association" (*webpage*), accessed at http://www.energyandpolicy.org/renewable-energy-state-policy-attacksreport-2015/indiana-energy-association/ on 23 October 2015.

93 Indiana General Assembly, *Actions for Senate Bill* 309, accessed at https://iga.in.gov/legislative/2017/bills/ senate/309#digest-heading, 22 September 2017.

94 Source Watch website, *Brandt Hershman*, accessed at https://www.sourcewatch.org/index.php/Brandt_Hershman, 4 October 2017.

95 Hiroko Tabuchi, "Rooftop Solar Dims Under Pressure from Utility Lobbyists," *New York Times*, 8 July 2017.

96 Follow the Money, contributions from electric utilities and oil and gas industries for Indiana elections in 2016, accessed at https://www.followthemoney.org/showme?s=IN&y=2016&f-fc=1,2,3&d-cci=36,33#[{1|gro=c-t-sts,cr-ot, 22 September 2017.

97 Indiana Energy Association members: Indiana Energy Association website, *About Us: Members,* accessed at http://www.indianaenergy.org/members.html, 6 October 2017. Talking points: See note 96.

98 Matt Kasper, Energy and Policy Institute Utility Industry Third-Parties Emerge in Utah to Defend Rocky Mountain Power's Proposed Solar Fees, accessed at http:// www.energyandpolicy.org/utah-rocky-mountain-powerproposed-solar-fees/ on 13 September 2017.

99 Niki Kelly, "Holcomb signs solar energy bill," *The Journal Gazette*, 3 May 2017.

100 Sophia Saliby, "Solarize Bloomington Unable to Meet Demand for Panel Installations," *Indiana Public Media*, 13 September 2017.

101 Jeff Brooks-Gillies, "Net metering bill would make Indiana an outlier on solar policy," *Midwest Energy News*, 31 January 2017.

102 Ibid.

103 Sophia Saliby, "Solarize Bloomington Unable to Meet Demand for Panel Installations," *Indiana Public Media*, 13 September 2017.

104 Indiana Statehouse, "Group of IN Mayors Make Appeal for Renewable Energy," *Tristate Homepage*, 13 September 2017.

105 Nick Janzen, "Legislature to Hear How Solar Bill Affects Schools," *WBOI NPR*, 3 October 2017.

106 Philip Warburg, "Florida Clean Power: The Missing Link", *The Miami Herald*, archived at https://web.archive. org/web/20161017210612/http://www.miamiherald.com/ opinion/op-ed/article44791227.html, 15 November 2015.

107 Susan Salisbury, "New solar laws expected to boost Florida commercial installations," *Palm Beach Post*, 14 July 2017.

108 Special interest impact: Eric Barton, Florida Center for Investigative Reporting, *In Sunshine State, Big Energy Blocks Solar Power* (blog), available at http://fcir. org/2015/04/03/in-sunshine-state-big-energy-blockssolar-power/, 3 April 2015; solar lagging: SEIA, *Florida Solar*, accessed at http://web.archive.org/web/20150521140517/ http://www.seia.org/state-solar-policy/florida on 21 May 2015.

109 Solar Energy Industries Association, *Florida Solar,* accessed at https://www.seia.org/state-solar-policy/flori-da-solar on 26 September 2017.

110 Project Sunroof, archived at https://web.archive. org/web/20170915002034/https://www.google.com/get/ sunroof/data-explorer/place/ChIJvypWkWV2wYgR0E7HW-9MTLvc/, 14 September 2017.

111 Ben Wilcox and Dan Krassner, Integrity Florida, *Power Play: Political Influence of Florida's Top Energy Corporations*, 31 March 2014. 112 Ballotpedia, "Florida Solar Energy Subsidies and Personal Solar Use, Amendment 1", available at https://ballotpedia.org/Florida_Solar_Energy_Subsidies_and_Personal_Solar_Use,_Amendment_1_(2016), accessed 21 September 2017.

113 Ibid.

114 Ibid.

115 Consumers for Smart Solar, "What Amendment 1 Does", archived at https://web.archive.org/ web/20161017203122/https://smartsolarfl.org/the-solaramendment/, accessed 17 October 2016.

116 Mary Ellen Klas, "Rival Solar Petitions Spawn Confusion, Race for Signatures," *The Miami Herald*, 30 October 2015.

117 Ibid.

118 Sun Sentinel Editorial Board, "Vote 'NO' on Shady, Not Smart, Solar Amendment", *Sun Sentinel*, archived at https://web.archive.org/web/20161014184531/http://www. sun-sentinel.com/opinion/endorsements/fl-endorse-noon-amendment-1-solar-20160930-story.html, 30 September 2016.

119 Gulf Power Company support for JMI: Energy and Policy Institute, *Press Release: Utility-funded PAC caught attempting more "political jiu-jitsu*" (press release), available at energyandpolicy.org/press-release-utility-funded-paccaught-attempting-political-jiu-jitsu/, 21 October 2016.

120 Mary Ellen Klas, "Insider Reveals Deceptive Strategy behind Florida's Solar Amendment," *The Miami Herald*, 18 October 2016.

121 See note 55.

122 The Florida Senate, *CS/SB 90: Renewable Energy Source Devices*, available at https://www.flsenate.gov/ Session/Bill/2017/00090, accessed on 13 September 2017; Amendment 4: Ballotpedia, *Florida Property Tax Exemptions for Renewable Energy Equipment, Amendment 4 (August 2016)*, available at https://ballotpedia.org/Florida_Property_Tax_Exemptions_for_Renewable_Energy_Equipment,_ Amendment_4_(August_2016), accessed on 13 September 2017.

123 Mary Ellen Klas, "FPL drafted portion of bill that puts tough requirements on rooftop solar companies," *Miami Herald*, 5 April 2017.

124 Ibid.

125 Solar Energy Industries Association, *2014 Top 10 Solar States*, available at www.seia.org/researchresources/2014-top-10-solar-states, 2015.

126 See note 9.

127 Matthew Philips, "Arizona's New Fee Puts a Dent in Rooftop Solar Economics," *Bloomberg Business*, available at www.bloomberg.com/bw/articles/2013-11-22/arizonasnew-fee-puts-a-dent-in-rooftop-solar-economics, 22 November 2013.

128 Herman K. Trabish, "Arizona Preserves Net Metering by Charging a Small Fee to Solar Owners," *GreenTech Media*, 15 October 2013.

129 Laurie Roberts, "AG's Office Widens Arizona Corporation Commission Investigation," *The Arizona Republic*, 23 July 2015 and Ryan Randazzo, "Utility Regulator's Meetings with APS Scrutinized," *The Arizona Republic*, 2 May 2015.

130 Herman Trabish, "Why Arizona's Long-Awaited Value of Solar Schemes Please No One," *Utility Dive*, 24 October 2016. \$4.2 million: Howard Fisher, "Fighter over APS rate increase continues," *The Daily Courier*, 23 August 2017.

131 Patrick O'Grady, "APS Parent to Jump into ACC Race with Plans for \$1 Million in Spending," *Phoenix Business Journal*, 24 October 2016. 132 Ballotpedia, *Arizona Corporation Commission Election 2016*, archived at https://web.archive.org/ web/20170914012943/https://ballotpedia.org/Arizona_ Corporation_Commission_election,_2016

133 Howard Fisher, "Fight over APS rate increase continues," *The Daily Courier*, 23 August 2017.

134 Ibid.

135 Howard Fischer, "Arizona Corporation Commission's Doug Little Leaving for Job in Trump Administration", *Arizona Daily Star*, 13 September 2017.

136 Herman Trabish, "APS Rate Case Sparks Concern Beyond Mandatory Demand Charge Proposal", *UtilityDive*, available at http://www.utilitydive.com/news/aps-ratecase-demand-charge-proposal/420332/, 7 June 2016.

137 Ibid.

138 Joseph Bebon, "Arizona Regulators Approve Solar Compromise," *Solar Industry Magazine*, 17 August 2017.

139 Ryan Randazzo, "APS electricity bills going up as rate increase approved," *Arizona Republic*, 15 August 2017.

140 Ryan Randazzo, "SRP Data Shows Some Solar Customers Save Money with Demand Rates," *Arizona Republic*, 28 March 2016.

141 Herman Trabish, "Why SRP's Controversial Demand Charge Unlocks a Huge Opportunity for Solar-plusstorage," *Utility Dive*, available at utilitydive.com/news/ why-srps-controversial-demand-charge-unlocks-a-hugeopportunity-for-solar-/372548/, 12 March 2015.

142 Rosalind Jackson, VoteSolar, Shady Math Puts Rooftop Solar at Risk in Arizona (blog post), available at votesolar.org/2013/04/30/shady-math-puts-rooftop-solarat-risk-in-arizona/, 30 April 2013.

143 Energy Information Administration, Form EIA-826 net metering data, downloaded at www.eia.gov/electricity/data/eia826/ on 21 September 2017.

144 Ibid.

145 Michael Phillis, "Utility Asks Justices to Rule on Immunity in SolarCity Case," *Law360*, 11 September 2017. Accessed at https://www.law360.com/ articles/962616?scroll=1 on 12 September 2017.

146 Ibid.

147 Ibid.

148 Ibid.

149 See note 145.

150 Owen Comstock, "California Has Nearly Half of the Nation's Solar Electricity Generating Capacity," U.S. Energy Information Administration, available at http://www.eia. gov/todayinenergy/detail.php?id=24852, 5 February 2016.

151 Herman K. Trabish, "California Utility IID Halts Net Metering Incentives after Hitting 5 Percent Cap", *UtilityDive*, available at http://www.utilitydive.com/news/ california-utility-iid-halts-net-metering-incentives-afterhitting-5-cap/415014/, 8 March 2016.

152 California Legislative Information, "Assembly Bill No. 510," available at http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=200920100AB510.

153 Ibid; IID, *Energy Service Maps*, available at http:// www.iid.com/energy/about-iid-energy/energy-servicemaps, accessed on 20 October 2016.

154 Sammy Roth, "Imperial Irrigation District Slams Brakes on Solar," *The Desert Sun*, 11 May 2016.

155 CALSEIA, Diverse Group of Organizations Get Behind AB 2163: Bill Would Help Stranded Solar Families in Coachella and Imperial Valleys (press release), archived at web.archive.org/web/20161020213308/http://calseia.org/ press-releases/2016/8/24/diverse-group-of-organizationsget-behind-ab-2163-bill-would-help-stranded-solar-families-in-imperial-irrigation-district.

156 Ibid.

157 Ibid.

158 Sammy Roth, "Rooftop Solar Industry, Imperial Irrigation District Strike Last-Minute Compromise on Net Metering", *The Desert Sun*, available at http://www. desertsun.com/story/tech/science/energy/2016/08/31/ rooftop-solar-industry-imperial-irrigation-district-strikelast-minute-compromise-net-metering/89660070/, 31 August 2016.

159 Sammy Roth, "County could force Imperial Irrigation District to Bring Back Popular Solar Program," *The Desert Sun*, 7 March 2017.

160 Anza Electric, *Net Metering*, archived at web. archive.org/web/20161109215907/http://www.anzaelectric.org/content/net-metering-0; TID Water & Power website, *Solar Net Metering*, archived at web.archive.org/ web/20161109220004/http://tid.com/solar-net-metering.

161 See note 13.

162 Ibid.

163 Ibid.

164 Brandon Smithwood, "California Takes a Significant Step Toward Getting Time-Of-Use Rates Right," *Solar Energy Industries Association*, 19 January 2017. Accessed at https://www.seia.org/blog/california-takes-significantstep-toward-getting-time-use-rates-right, 4 October 2017.

165 Frank Adorka, "Sharp shift stiffs solar as CPUC approves later TOU peak time," *PV Magazine*, 25 August 2017.

166 Ibid.

167 Christine Souza, "Time-of-use rate proposal affects farms and ranches," *AgAlert*, 12 July 2017.

168 128th Maine Legislature, *Legislative Document No.* 1504, 25 April 2017, accessed at https://mainelegislature.org/ legis/bills/getPDF.asp?paper=SP0529&item=1&snum=128, 18 October 2017. 169 Controversial public utility appointments: Dave Anderson, "How Central Maine Power killed a popular pro-rooftop solar bill," *Energy and Policy Institute*, available at http://www.energyandpolicy.org/central-maine-powersolar-net-metering/, accessed on 18 October 2017; Introduction date: Maine Legislature website, *Actions for LD 1504*, accessed at https://legislature.maine.gov/LawMaker-Web/dockets.asp?ID=280064993, 18 October 2017

170 Maine Legislature website, *Actions for LD 1504*, accessed at https://legislature.maine.gov/LawMakerWeb/dockets.asp?ID=280064993, 18 October 2017.

171 Ibid.

172 Dave Anderson, "How Central Maine Power killed a popular pro-rooftop solar bill," *Energy and Policy Institute*. Available at http://www.energyandpolicy.org/centralmaine-power-solar-net-metering/, accessed on 18 October 2017.

- 173 Ibid.
- 174 Ibid.
- 175 Ibid.
- 176 Ibid.
- 177 Ibid.

178 Fred Bevar, "Powerful interest shaping fate of Maine's solar industry," *The Bangor Daily*, 17 June 2017.

179 AEP number of customers: American Electric Power, *About Us*, accessed at https://www.aep.com/about/ on 22 May 2015.

180 Kathiann M. Kowalski, "Ohio Utility Seeks to Double its Fixed Distribution Charges," *Midwest Energy News*, 26 August 2016.

181 Ibid.

182 Ibid.

183 Rober Walton, "AEP to postpone increase in Ohio monthly fees after reaching settlement," *Utility Dive*, 29 August 2017.

184 Kathiann Kowalski, "Ohio Utilities Take Net Metering Fight to State Supreme Court," *Midwest Energy News*, 4 August 2014

185 Kathiann Kowalski "Net Metering Going Under the Microscope in Ohio", *Midwest Energy news*, 18 May 2015; The Supreme Court of Ohio, *Case 2014-1290*, available at https://supremecourt.ohio.gov/clerk/ecms/#/caseinfo/2014/1290, accessed 12 September 2017.

186 AEP lobbied for freeze: Steven Mufson and Tom Hamburger, "Ohio Governor Signs Bill Freezing Renewable-Energy Standards," *The Washington Post*, 13 June 2014.

187 SEIA, *Utah Solar*, accessed at https://www.seia. org/state-solar-policy/utah-solar, 21 September 2017.

188 RMP "went to the legislature with [the] bill" (SB 208) according to Sarah Wright, Executive Director of Utah Clean Energy: Kiley Kroh, "Push to Impose Extra Fees On Customers Who Install Solar Panels Sparks Outrage In Utah," *ClimateProgress*, 11 June 2014; Solar surcharges: Brian Maffly, "Is a fee for solar energy users a 'sun tax' or fair play?," *The Salt Lake Tribune*, available at www.sltrib. com/sltrib/news/58211096-78/solar-power-energy-net. html.csp, 27 July 2014.

189 Lucy Woods, "Utah Rejects Net Metering Charge," *PVTech*, available at http://www.pv-tech.org/news/utah_ suspends_net_metering_dispute, 4 September 2014; Benjamin Inskeep and Kathryn Wright, NC Clean Energy Technology Study and Meister Consultants Group, *The 50 States of Solar – Q1 2015*, available at nccleantech.ncsu.edu/ wp-content/uploads/50-States-of-Solar-Issue2-Q2-2015-FI-NAL3.pdf, Spring 2015.

190 Leia Larsen, "Utah solar advocates generating support ahead of Aug. 9 net metering hearing," *The Standard-Examiner*, 26 July 2017.

191 Ibid.

192 Utah Clean Energy, "The Results are in! Expert analysis on rooftop solar costs and benefits," 13 June 2017. Accessed at https://utahcleanenergy.org/issues/item/396the-results-are-in-expert-analysis-on-rooftop-solar-costsand-benefits, 21 September 2017.

193 See note 192.

194 Krysti Shallenberg, "Rocky Mountain Power solar settlement approved by Utah regulators," *Utility Dive*, 10 October 2017.

195 Office of Utah Governor Gary Herbert, *Agreement Announced for Utah Rooftop Solar*, accessed at https://www.utah.gov/governor/news_media/article. html?article=20170828-1. 12 September 2017.

196 Emma Penrod, "Settlement Would Let Rocky Mountain Power Charge Nonsolar Customers to Pay for Rooftop Solar Power," *The Salt Lake Tribune*, 11 September 2017.

197 See note 196.

198 SEIA, *Illinois Solar (2017 Q2)*, archived at https:// web.archive.org/web/20171018150742/https://www.seia. org/sites/default/files/2017-09/Federal_2017Q2_Illinois. pdf on 18 October 2017.

199 Peter Maloney, "ComEd Jumps on the Demand Charge Train with New Illinois Proposal", *UtilityDive*, available at http://www.utilitydive.com/news/comedjumps-on-the-demand-charge-train-with-new-illinoisproposal/418735/, 9 May 2016.

200 Illinois General Assembly, *Bill Status of SB 2814: 99th General Assembly,* accessed at http://www.ilga.gov/legislation/billstatus.asp?DocNum=2814&GAID=13&GA=99&Do cTypeID=SB&LegID=96125&SessionID=88, 12 September 2017.

201 Joseph Bebon, "Solar Market Benefits from Illinois 'Nuclear Bailout' Bill," *Solar Industry Magazine,* 6 December 2016. 202 According to data from: National Institute on Money in State Politics, Follow the Money accessed at http://www.followthemoney.org/entity-details?eid=3615 and http://www.followthemoney.org/entitydetails?eid=11258 on 14 October 2016.

203 Illinois General Assembly, *Bill Status of SB 1585*, available at http://www.ilga.gov/legislation/BillStatus.asp? DocNum=1585&GAID=13&DocTypeID=SB&SessionID=88& GA=99, accessed 27 October 2016.

204 Kari Lydersen, "Utility-backed Group Divides Illinois Solar Advocates," *Midwest Energy News*, 6 July 2016.

205 Illinois Smart Solar Alliance, *About Us*, archived at web.archive.org/web/20161114171726/http://illinoissmart-solaralliance.com/about-us.

206 Mary Anne Hitt, "El Paso Electric Becomes First Coal-Free Utility in Texas, New Mexico," *Huffington Post*, 4 August 2016.

207 Joseph Bebon, "El Paso Electric Targets Rooftop Solar Customers Again," *Solar Industry Magazine*, 16 February 2017.

208 Ibid.

209 Vic Kolenc, "El Paso Electric rate hearing cancelled for negotiations," *El Paso Times*, 24 August 2017.

210 El Paso Electric, *El Paso Electric Files 2017 Texas Rate Case (press release),* accessed at https://www.epelectric. com/about-el-paso-electric/article/el-paso-electric-files-2017-texas-rate-case, 19 September 2017.

211 2,800 customers estimate: Ryan Maye Handy, "Contentious El Paso rate case headed for settlement," 25 August 2017; \$14.09 rate hike estimate: See note 212.

212 Office of Senator Jose Rodriguez, *Sen. Rodriguez urges City Council to oppose EPE's discriminatory solar rate proposal (press release),* 4 August 2017. Accessed at http://www.senate.state.tx.us/members/d29/press/en/p20170804a.pdf, 19 September 2017.

213 El Paso Electric, "El Paso Electric Continues Texas Rate Case Discussions", KRWG (NPR), 24 August 2017.

214 See note 211.

215 Vic Kolenc, "Agreement slashes EP Electric rate increase request," *El Paso Times*, 19 September 2017.

216 Ibid.

217 Ibid.

218 The Solar Foundation, Nevada Solar Industry Jobs Grow 146 Percent: Now Ranks 1st in the Country in Solar Jobs Per Capita (press release), available at www.thesolarfoundation.org/press-release-nv-census-2014/, 12 February 2015.

219 See note 9.

220 Sean Whaley, "Rooftop-Solar Official: NV Energy Proposal Spells Death of Industry," *Las Vegas Review-Journal*, 3 August 2015.

221 Kyle Roerink, "Solar Companies Say NV Energy Misled Them on Cap Limit," *Las Vegas Sun*, 8 July 2015.

222 "Net Metering," NV Energy, available at https:// www.nvenergy.com/renewablesenvironment/renewablegenerations/NetMetering.cfm#forecast, accessed on 9 November 2016.

223 Politifact, *Solar Energy Fairness's File*, available at http://www.politifact.com/personalities/solar-energy-fairness/, accessed on 18 October 2016.

224 Citizens for Solar Energy Fairness, "Choice", advertisement, available at https://www.youtube.com/ watch?v=hbMEAkj8PXk, 13 April 2016.

225 Energy Information Administration, Form EIA-826 net metering data, downloaded at www.eia.gov/electricity/data/eia826/ on 20 October 2016.

226 Ibid.

227 Mark Chediak, "Nevada Lures Tesla Back with Credits for Rooftop Solar," *Bloomberg Markets*, 15 June 2017. 228 Julian Spector, "How MGM Prepared Itself to Leave Nevada's Biggest Utility", *Greentech Media*, 16 September 2016.

229 Elizabeth Shogren, "In solar scuffle, big utilities meet their match: Solar advocates win a surprising victory in Nevada," *High Country News*, 21 August 2017.

230 Ibid.

231 Julia Pyper, "Nevada Governor Kills Renewable Energy, Community Solar Bills with Deregulation Pending," *Green Tech Media*, 19 June 2017.

232 Energy Information Administration, Form EIA-826 net metering data, downloaded at www.eia.gov/electricity/data/eia826/ on 21 September 2017.

233 Public Utilities Commission of Nevada, *Docket No. 17-07,* 28 July 2017. Accessed at http://pucweb1.state. nv.us/PDF/AxImages/DOCKETS_2015_THRU_PRES-ENT/2017-7/22890.pdf, 15 September 2017.

234 Riley Snyder, "Despite legislative victory, rooftop solar industry unhappy with NV Energy's plan to implement more favorable rates," *The Nevada Independent*, 10 August 2017.

235 Frank Andorka, "Nevada regulators deny potentially destructive rate hikes," *PV Magazine*, 5 September 2017.

236 See note 234.

237 Peter Hancock, "Kansans who install solar panels may soon pay higher electric bills," *Lawrence Journal-World*, 22 September 2017.

238 Ibid.

239 Ibid.

240 Energy Information Administration, Form EIA-861 distributed generation data, downloaded at https://www. eia.gov/electricity/data/eia861/ on 12 October 2017.

241 Herman K. Trabish, "Big Sky solar: On the long, hard road to net metering reform in Montana," *UtilityDive*, 13 October 2016

242 Dominant utility: Ibid. NorthWestern support: Daily Energy Insider Reports, "NorthWestern Energy supports net metering legislation in Montana," *Daily Energy Insider Reports*. 10 February 2017.

243 Total number of Montana customers: NorthWestern Energy, *At a glance: Montana (factsheet),* July 2017. Accessed at https://www.northwesternenergy.com/docs/ default-source/documents/ataglance/ataglancemt, 27 September 2017; Number of customers with rooftop solar: Daily Energy Insider Reports, "NorthWestern Energy supports net metering legislation in Montana," *Daily Energy Insider Reports.* 10 February 2017.

244 Frank Andorka, "Montana governor vetoes antisolar legislation," *PV Magazine*, 24 April 2017.

245 Robert Walton, "Montana regulators set criteria for NorthWestern's net metering study," *UtilityDive*, 3 August 2017.

246 Ibid.

247 Demand charges: Herman K. Trabish, "Montana-Dakota Utilities drops demand charge push after deal with solar advocates," *UtilityDive*, 29 February 2016; Four netmetering customers: Corin Cates-Carney, "Does Montana Need a Net Metering Study?" *Montana Public Radio*, 19 January 2017.